

Wayne State University

Wayne State University Dissertations

1-1-2013

The Effect Of Proalgazyme And Its Subfractions On Lipid Metabolism In Diet Induced Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters: Correlation With Plasma Metabolomic Profile

Andreea Geamanu *Wayne State University,*

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.wayne.edu/oa_dissertations Part of the <u>Alternative and Complementary Medicine Commons</u>, and the <u>Nutrition Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Geamanu, Andreea, "The Effect Of Proalgazyme And Its Subfractions On Lipid Metabolism In Diet Induced Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters: Correlation With Plasma Metabolomic Profile" (2013). *Wayne State University Dissertations*. Paper 839.

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@WayneState. It has been accepted for inclusion in Wayne State University Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@WayneState.



THE EFFECT OF PROALGAZYME AND ITS SUBFRACTIONS ON LIPID METABOLISM IN DIET INDUCED HYPERCHOLESTEROLEMIC HAMSTERS: CORRELATION WITH PLASMA METABOLOMIC PROFILE

by

ANDREEA GEAMANU

DISSERTATION

Submitted to the Graduate School

of Wayne State University,

Detroit, Michigan

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

2013

MAJOR: NUTRITION AND FOOD SCIENCE

Approved by:

Advisor

Date



DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my husband, Daniel Geamanu, who provided all the strength and power needed to pursue my dream of becoming a research doctor. It's been a long and difficult journey at times, but he never gave up on his support and always encouraged me to dream big. I want to thank him for his love, support, trust, and more than anything, his patience over the past few years.

This manuscript is also dedicated in loving admiration to my parents, Alexandra and Cristian Mateescu, whose solid support and continued encouragement gave me the foundation and strength to pursue my studies. I learned from my father that is never too late to follow your dreams, and I am thankful for his constant motivation in my endeavors.

My dedication to research and community work has brought difficult times in the family life, but with the support and love received, nothing seemed impossible to achieve. I am deeply thankful for everything I am today because of the nourishment received at home.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my wonderful mentor Dr. Smiti Gupta, whose help, support and thoughtful guidance made possible to fulfill my dreams. I cannot thank her enough for all the encouragement, leadership, and valuable assistance with numerous laboratory techniques provided throughout the years.

I would like to thank my colleagues Nadia Saadat and Arvind Goja for their immeasurable involvement in this project, and for all their help and valuable inputs throughout the years. They never complained that the work needed to be done late into the night or early morning; they were always present to help and do the best job possible. Also, I would like to thank all the undergraduate and graduate lab members that were involved in this research project for their valuable time spent in the animal house and lab.

I have furthermore to thank my committee members, Dr. Pramod Khosla, Dr. Catherine Jen, and Dr. Joseph Artiss for agreeing to be part of my Committee and reviewing my thesis. Their valuable suggestions were important and very helpful for data analysis and final conclusions of the study. I would like to express a special word of appreciation to Dr. Khosla for his invaluable expertise in cardiac puncture, an important technique used for exsanguination of the animals.

Also I would like to address my thanks to colleagues and friends for their tremendous support and encouragement to pursue my dreams.



iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Abbreviations	xi
Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Cardiovascular Disease	1
1.2. Lipoprotein Metabolism	2
1.3 Risk factors	8
1.4. Current Therapies	15
1.5. Metabolomics	21
1.6. Nuclear Magnetic Resonance and Mass Spectroscopy	25
1.7. Multivariate Data Analysis (MVDA)	27
1.8. Metabolite Identification and Quantification (Chenomx)	29
1.9. Aims of Study	30
Chapter 2: MATERIAL AND METHODS	
2.1. Aim 1	35
2.1.A Animal Protocol and Experimental Design	35
2.1.B Plasma Lipid Analysis	42
2.1.C Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction for Gene Expression Analysis	45
2.1.D Statistical Analysis	48
2.2 Aim 2	48



	2.2.A Sample Preparation	48
	2.2.B 1D ¹ H NMR Spectroscopy	49
	2.2.C Multivariate Data Analysis (MVDA)	50
	2.2.D Metabolite Identification and Quantification	51
	2.3 Aim 3	51
	2.3.A Animal Protocol and Experimental Design	52
	2.3.B Plasma Lipid Analysis	54
	2.3.C Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction for Gene Expression Analysis	54
	2.3.D Statistical Analysis	55
	2.4 Aim 4	55
	2.4.A Sample Preparation	55
	2.4.B 1D ¹ H NMR Spectroscopy	55
	2.4.C Multivariate Data Analysis (MVDA)	55
	2.4.D Metabolite Identification and Quantification	56
Chap	ter 3: RESULTS	57
	3.1 Aim 1	57
	3.1.A Metabolic Effects of High Fat Diet and PAZ Supplementation	57
	3.1.B Plasma Lipid Analysis	60
	3.1.C Effect of PAZ and its Subfractions on Gene Expression	71
	3.2 Aim 2	76
	3.2.A Multivariate Data Analysis	76
	3.2.B Metabolite Identification and Quantification (Chenomx)	89
	3.3 Aim 3	92



3.3.A Metabolic Effects of High Fat Diet and Treatment with the Biologically Active Fraction	92
3.3.B Plasma Lipid Profile upon Therapy with F4	94
3.3.C Therapeutic Effect of F4 on Apo A1 gene expression	100
3.4 Aim 4	102
3.4.A Multivariate Data Analysis	102
3.4.B Metabolite Identification and Quantification	109
Chapter 4: DISCUSSION	
Conclusion	
References	124
Abstract	140
Autobiographical Statement	144



LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Composition of the Control Purified Diet
Table 2.2 Composition of the experimental custom purified diet
Table 2.3 Real time RT-PCR Primers 47
Table 3.1 Anthropometrics of Male Hamsters Fed High Fat Diet and PAZ orits Fractions for 4 Weeks58
Table 3.2 Correlation between Plasma Cholesterol Concentrations andExpression of Hepatic Genes75
Table 3.3 Metabolites with Significantly Lower Concentrationin Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters that Received PAZ for 4 Weeksas a Preventative Agent as Compared with HW90
Table 3.4 Metabolites with Significantly Lower Concentrationin Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters that Received F4 as aPreventativeAgent as Compared with HW91
Table 3.5 Anthropometrics of Male Hamsters Fed High Fat Diet and Waterfor 4 Weeks, Followed by High Fat and F4 Treatment for 0, 3, 7, 10,14, and 21 Days
Table 3.6 List of Plasma Metabolites Quantified to be at Lower Concentrationsafter 21 Days of Treatment110



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Metabolic Pathway of Endogenous and Exogenous Lipoproteins4
Figure 1.2: The HDL/ Reverse Cholesterol Transport Pathway7
Figure 1.3: Exogenous and Endogenous Factors Likely to Influence the Human Nutritional Metabolome
Figure 2.1 Study Design for Aim 1
Figure 2.2 Separation of PAZ into Fractions by Sequential Affinity Gel Chromatography41
Figure 2.3 Study Design for Aim 353
Figure 3.1 Change in Body Weight Over 4 Weeks of the Study59
Figure 3.2 Effect of High Fat Diet on Lipid Profile61
Figure 3.3 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on Total Cholesterol Concentration62
Figure 3.4 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on Triglycerides Concentration
Figure 3.5 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on TC/ HDL Ratio64
Figure 3.6 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on non-HDL Cholesterol Concentration
Figure 3.7 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on HDL Cholesterol Concentration
Figure 3.8 Effect of PAZ on Lipoprotein Particle Distribution
Figure 3.9 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on LDL Particle Size69
Figure 3.10 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on HDL Particle Size70
Figure 3.11 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on Gene Expression73
Figure 3.12 NMR Spectrum obtained on 600 MHz Agilent Instrument, using CPMG Spin-Echo Sequence with Presaturation77
Figure 3.13 1H NMR Spectra of HW, HP, and HF4 Groups78
Figure 3.14 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by High Fat Diet (3-Dimensional CMPG_PCA)80



Figure 3.15 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by High Fat Diet (2-Dimensional CMPG_PLS-DA for CW and HW)81
Figure 3.16 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by Diet and PAZ Consumption (2-Dimensional CMPG_PLS-DA for CP and HP)
Figure 3.17 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by High Fat Diet and Drinking Fluid. (3-D CMPG_PCA for HW, HP, and HF4)
Figure 3.18 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by PAZ
Figure 3.19 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by Fraction 485
Figure 3.20 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by PAZ and F487
Figure 3.21 Correlation of the PAZ fraction- induced plasma metabolomic and HDL cholesterol
Figure 3.22 Effect of Fraction 4 on Total Cholesterol Concentration95
Figure 3.23 Effect of Fraction 4 on Triglycerides Concentration96
Figure 3.24 Effect of Fraction 4 on TC/HDL Cholesterol Concentration97
Figure 3.25 Effect of Fraction 4 on HDL Cholesterol Concentration
Figure 3.26 Effect of Fraction 4 on non-HDL Cholesterol Concentration
Figure 3.27 Relative Levels of Hepatic mRNA Expression of Apo A1 Gene in Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters101
 Figure 3.27 Relative Levels of Hepatic mRNA Expression of Apo A1 Gene in Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters
 Figure 3.27 Relative Levels of Hepatic mRNA Expression of Apo A1 Gene in Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters

Figure 3.30 Correlation of the Fraction 4-Induced Plasma Metabolomic and Lipid



Profile	.107
Figure 3.31 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by F4 (OPLS_S Plot)	108
Figure 4.1 Diagrams of the Glycerolphosphate Pathway and Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis	.120
Figure 4.2 Gut-flora-dependent metabolism of phosphocholine and atherosclerosis.	121



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ABC A1: ATP-binding cassette transporter, sub-family A, member 1

Apo A1: Apolipoprotein A1

ATP: Adult Treatment Panel

BAF: Biologically active fraction

BASA: Bile acid sequestrant agents

BSH: Bile salt hydrolase

CETP: Cholesteryl ester transfer protein

CHD: Coronary heart disease

CPMG: Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill

CVD: Cardiovascular disease

DASH: Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension

DGATA2: Diacylglycerol acyltransferase-2

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

GAPDH: Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase

HDL: High density lipoprotein

HMG CoA: Hydroxyl-methylglutaryl coenzyme A

LCAT: Lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase

LDL: Low density lipoprotein

LPL: Lipoprotein lipase

MS: Mass spectroscopy

NCEP: National Cholesterol Education Program

NMR: Nuclear magnetic resonance



xi

OPLS: Orthogonal projections to latent structures

PAZ: ProAlgaZyme

- PCA: Principal component analysis
- PLS: Partial least squares
- PLS-DA: Partial least square- discriminant analysis
- RCT: Reverse cholesterol transport
- RT-PCR: Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
- SRB 1: Scavenger receptor class B1
- SREBP: Sterol response element binding protein
- TC: Total cholesterol
- TG: Triglycerides
- TMAO: Trimethylamine N-oxide
- TOF: Time of flight
- TQ: Tandem quadrupole
- VLDL: Very low density lipoproteins



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Cardiovascular Disease

Despite significant progress in medical therapeutics, cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains the leading cause of mortality in the United States and other industrialized nations [1]. Currently, CVD is responsible for more than 2200 American deaths/day, an average of one death every 39s [2] and it is predicted that one in two healthy men and one in three healthy women will develop some form of CVD during their lifetime [3].

Cardiovascular disease is described as a health state that affects the cardiovascular system, and includes cardiac disease, vascular disease of the brain and kidney, and peripheral arterial disease. Coronary heart disease (CHD) is the most common form of heart disease. It occurs when the arteries supplying blood to the heart become narrower due to the buildup of plaque, also known as atherosclerosis. The site where the plaque is located determines the type of CHD, such as coronary artery disease (plaque in the arteries supplying blood to the heart), peripheral artery disease (plaque in the arteries supplying blood to the arms and legs), and carotid artery disease (plaque in the arteries that supply blood to the brain). More serious consequences of plaque formation are myocardial infarction and stroke, which can occur when blood flow to the heart, or brain, respectively, is severely reduced or discontinued due to the hardening and narrowing of the arteries.

Other conditions such as arrhythmia, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart defects, and hypertensive heart disease are also considered part of CVD, but they are not



caused by plaque formation, which is mainly associated with an imbalanced dietary regimen.

The prevalence of CVD is expected to increase in the next decade, mainly due to increase in sedentary lifestyle, obesity, and aging of the population, which will increase the incidence of atherosclerosis, stroke, acute myocardial infarction, and other CVD related diseases. In 2008, the approximate total cost of CVD treatments was nearly US\$ 500 billion, placing CVD as a top expensive disease to both human lives and finances [1]. Moreover, it is predicted by the American Heart Association that by 2030, 40.5 % of the US population will be diagnosed with some form of CVD and the total direct medical costs of CVD are projected to triple, from \$273 billion/year to \$818 billion, while the indirect costs will increase by 61% [4].Therefore, it is imperative that effective measures need to be applied in prevention, early detection, and management of CVD, as this is a very costly disease in terms of both lives and economics.

1.2 Lipoprotein Metabolism

Cholesterol molecule was first isolated from gallstones in 1789, and since then, it became one of the most extensive topic for research [5]. Found in all cells of the body, cholesterol is a waxy steroid metabolite that is responsible for the structure, permeability and fluidity of the cell membrane of higher eukaryotic systems. In addition, cholesterol serves as a precursor for the biosynthesis of vitamin D, bile acids, and steroid hormones [6]. Cholesterol, itself, is scattered amongst cellular membranes, accounting for 20-25% of the lipid molecules found in the plasma [5].



Lipids in general, including cholesterol, are not soluble in blood; therefore they are associated to proteins for transport in an aqueous media, becoming complex aggregates known as lipoproteins. Cholesterol, TG, and phospholipids are the major lipids that are used for hormone synthesis, formation of the cell membrane, and production of bile acid. Within the circulation, these aggregates are in a state of constant flux, changing in composition and physical structure as the peripheral tissue takes up the various components before the remnants return to the liver.

The most abundant lipid constituents are TG, phospholipids (mostly phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin), cholesterol esters, free cholesterol, and proteins known as apolipoproteins (Apo). The different protein components found in lipids determine the overall structure and metabolism, and the interactions with the receptor molecules in liver and peripheral tissues. However, the nomenclature is based on the relative densities of the aggregates following ultracentrifugation, taking into account the diameter of the broadly spherical particles. Hence, the main groups are classified as chylomicron, very low density lipoprotein (VLDL), low density lipoprotein (LDL), and high density lipoprotein (HDL) (Figure 1.1) [1, 7]. Furthermore, based on advanced separation procedures, intermediate density lipoprotein (IDL) and subclasses of HDL (HDL₁, HDL₂, HDL₃, etc.) are often defined.



3



Figure 1.1 Metabolic Pathways of Endogenous and Exogenous Lipoproteins.

Abbreviations: Apolipoprotein A, A; Apolipoprotein B, B-48, B-100; Apolipoprotein C, C; Apolipoprotein E, E; Hepatic triglyceride lipase, HTGL; High density lipoprotein, HDL; Lipoprotein lipase, LPL; Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase, LCAT; Low density lipoprotein, LDL; Very low density lipoprotein, VLDL [7]



A. Chylomicrons are the largest particles amongst all lipoproteins. Dietary cholesterol and TG are transported to different parts of the body from the intestine by chylomicrons, which are mediated by the enzyme lipoprotein lipase (LPL). Chylomicrons remain present in the plasma for three to six hours after consuming a meal, after which they are recycled. The remnant chylomicrons, containing the dietary cholesterol, Apo E and B 48 are cleared from the circulation by the liver via a receptor- mediated process.

B. VLDL molecule is secreted into circulation by the liver and contains mostly TG of the remnant chylomicrons, cholesterol, cholesterol esters and specific apolipoproteins (B100, C, and E). As the transport of VLDL molecules is progressing, the core of TG is reduced and phospholipids on the surface are transferred to HDL. Skeletal, cardiac, or adipose tissue receive TG from VLDL and use it for energy, or in the case of adipose tissue, for storage. Further, a large portion of the VLDL remnants are converted to LDL with additional loss of TG. Apo B100 and E are the remaining proteins required for recognition of the VLDL remnants, and LDL by the LDL receptors in the liver.

C. LDL molecules are the major carriers of cholesterol from the liver to the peripheral tissues, where the receptors recognizing Apo B100 capture the particles. Within these tissues, the cholesterol esters are hydrolyzed to release free cholesterol, which is further integrated into the plasma membrane and utilized as desired. It is widely known that high levels of LDL cholesterol increase CVD risk due to the atherosclerotic plaques deposited in the arterial wall.



5

D. HDL molecules contain higher amounts of proteins and a lower concentration of cholesterol and lipids, as compared with the other lipoproteins. Their primary function is to enable secretion of cholesterol from cells, esterification of cholesterol in plasma and relocating it to other lipoproteins, and the return of cholesterol to the liver from peripheral tissues for excretion. This process is known as 'reverse cholesterol transport' (RCT) and has the ability to protect against excess cholesterol accumulation and oxidative damage (Figure 1.2) [8]. Moreover, HDL cholesterol is thought to have antioxidative, anti-inflammatory, anticoagulation, platelet antiaggregatory, and profibrolytic effects [9], which can alleviate the harm generated by increased levels of LDL cholesterol.

The nascent HDL particles are synthesized in the extracellular space of the small intestine and liver as protein-rich molecules. Apo A1 is the major protein component of HDL in plasma. The protein promotes cholesterol efflux from tissues to the liver for excretion, and it is a cofactor for lecithin: cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT), which is responsible for the formation of most plasma cholesteryl esters. A specific transporter molecule, ATP-binding cassette transporter, sub-family A, member 1 (ABCA1) facilitates the transfer of phospholipids and cholesterol to lipid-poor apolipoproteins, especially Apo A, in the nascent HDL particles. Increased levels of ABCA1 imply that an organism may resourcefully collect cholesterol deposits from arterial walls and transport it back to the liver.



6



Figure 1.2 HDL/ Reverse Cholesterol Transport Pathway

Abbreviations: ATP-binding cassette transporter, sub-family A, member 1, ABCA1; ATP-binding cassette sub-family G member 1,ABCG1; Cholesteryl ester transfer protein, CETP; High density lipoprotein, HDL; Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase, LCAT; Low density lipoprotein, LDL; Low density lipoprotein receptor, LDL-R; Scavenger receptor class B1, SRB1 [8]



In order for RCT mechanism to function properly, HDL has to bind to the receptors on the extra-hepatic and hepatic cells. Through its Apo E component, HDL is able to LDL receptors in addition to HDL receptors. Hence, at its receptor site, HDL is able to compete with LDL. Another key molecule involved in RCT is scavenger receptor class B1 (SRB1), which has the ability to increase HDL-mediated cholesterol efflux. SRB1 functions in hepatocytes to cleave cholesterol esters off transporter molecules; hence they can be re-metabolized by the liver.

In addition, cholesterol esters of HDL can be transferred to VLDL and LDL by the action of cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP). This enzyme allows for excess cellular cholesterol to be returned to the liver by the LDL-receptor pathway [10], as cholesterol esters can be exchanged for TG by CETP from Apo B containing lipoproteins to HDL and vice versa. Overall, in this process, cholesterol is removed from the peripheral tissues and carried to the liver. About 30% of the serum cholesterol is carried during the RCT process [1]. Thus, within the vascular endothelium, if the quantity of cholesterol deposited is reduced, the risk of atherosclerosis and formation of fatty plaque is also reduced.

1.3 Risk Factors

With respect to heart disease, as with any chronic illness, there are several risk factors-modifiable and non-modifiable- linked to the development and progression of CVD. The major non-modifiable factors, which cannot be changed, include genetic alterations, family history, increasing age, gender (men have higher risk), post menopausal, and race (African Americans, Hispanics, native Indians and Hawaiians, and some Asians have increased risk when compared with Caucasians). The major



risk factors that one can modify, treat or control by lifestyle modifications and/or medicine include diabetes, high blood pressure, poor diet and sedentary routine, obesity, smoking, stress, and abnormal levels of blood lipids (partially modifiable, not related to genetic aberrations). A combination of any two or more of the risk factors highly increases the development of atherosclerosis and other related coronary disease.

1.3.A Diet

Diet is an important determinant of chronic disease risk, particularly heart disease. It represents a significant component of any strategy to achieve population level reductions in the burden of CVD. Although drug treatment, such as lipidlowering statin drugs, may be necessary among individuals at high risk of CVD or with genetic alterations, adoption of a healthy diet is the preferred method in the general population in order to prevent or delay the onset of the disease.

The primary dietary determinants of hypercholesterolemia are fats, in particular, saturated and trans fatty acids, and dietary cholesterol. Over the last few decades, various studies have confirmed that the level of saturated versus unsaturated fatty acids in one's diet can play a direct role in CVD [11]. Valuable results were published from the epidemiological studies of the seven countries [12], the Framingham studies [13], as well as the Japanese individuals migrating from Japan to Hawaii and California [14]. All of these investigations demonstrated the environment's influence on plasma cholesterol levels, in particular the impact of the relative levels of saturated versus unsaturated fatty acids in one's diet. Several other studies have also experimented with the substitution of various fats to observe the



9

outcome on plasma cholesterol levels. It was noted that when polyunsaturated fatty acids were substituted for saturated fatty acids, patients experienced reduced plasma cholesterol levels, and had a decreased rate of death and repeat myocardial infarctions [15, 16].

In addition, while Brown and Goldstein [17] are mostly famous for their work on mechanistic action of LDL receptors, they have also researched the mechanisms behind the effects of unsaturated fatty acids to lower plasma cholesterol levels. Transcription factors, such as sterol response element binding proteins (SREBP) raise cholesterol, fatty acid, and LDL receptor biosynthesis. SREBP transcription and SREBP precursor proteins are reduced when unsaturated fatty acids are present in the diet. Additionally, another mechanistic process of certain unsaturated fatty acids is to control peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha and carbohydrate regulatory element binding protein/Max-like factor X function, which can result in decreased concentration of plasma lipids [18-20], and may also influence lipoprotein catabolism independently of the LDL receptor [21].

Like the role of dietary fat in regulating plasma cholesterol levels, the importance of dietary cholesterol absorption in regulating plasma and body cholesterol homeostasis has been shown in numerous epidemiological and clinical studies. Populations consuming dietary cholesterol less than 100 mg per day along with lowfat diets have low LDL cholesterol levels and low incidence of coronary disease [22, 23]. The National Cholesterol Education Program guidelines recommend dietary cholesterol to not exceed more than 300 mg per day.

1.3.B Obesity



Excess adiposity and obesity are the root cause of numerous diseases, which contribute to a considerable lifelong morbidity and are highly linked to cardiovascular mortality. The rapid increase in obesity prevalence is most of the time not due to genetic modifications, but rather is a societal disparity between physiology and environment, due to abundance of food and a sedentary lifestyle. Obesity, mainly central obesity, represents a major culprit of the metabolic syndrome, which includes insulin resistance, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and dyslipidemia, all risk factors for development of CVD [24, 25].

The risk relationship between obesity and atherosclerosis was seen in young men (15 to 34 years old) in the PDAY study [26], as well as in an older population (35 to 54 years old) [27], suggesting that risk factors such as obesity, may operate continuously as atherosclerosis progresses. Among the traditional risk factors, the dyslipidemia may to some extent be attributable to the increased release of free fatty acids from adipose tissue, which may consecutively increase very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) production and plasma triglycerides (TG). The release of free fatty acids may also contribute to insulin resistance, which has been highly associated with atherogenic pro-inflammatory and pro-oxidant vascular alterations [28, 29].

Apart from atherosclerosis, heart failure is also more prevalent among obese patients, possibly due to the expansion of the blood volume associated with expanded adipose tissue mass. Frequently, when hypertension is associated with obesity, it can contribute to left ventricular hypertrophy and ultimately heart failure.



These correlations warrant future research to learn about the impact of the increased adipose tissue accumulation on cardiovascular pathophysiology.

1.3.C Hypertension

Hypertension is one of the most common disorders worldwide and it ranks as the leading chronic risk factor for mortality, accounting for 13.5% of all deaths [30]. High blood pressure is responsible for half of all strokes and ischemic heart disease, and can affect many other CVD, including atherosclerosis, CHD, and renal disease. Moreover, in overweight patients the negative impact of hypertension on CVD is more significant as compared with normal weight individuals [31].

A diet high in sodium and low potassium represents the most important environmental factor affecting hypertension. The American population consumes an average of more than 6 g of sodium daily and more than one third of the population has hypertension [17]. In contrast, in communities were the sodium intake is less than one gram per day, the prevalence of hypertension is about 1 % of that in industrialized societies.

The American Heart Association set the recommendations for sodium and potassium consumption based on the DASH study (Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension), which represents a diet based on grains, low-fat dairy, fish and poultry, and rich in fruits and vegetables. The DASH study showed that the blood pressure was reduced in subjects following this diet, as compared with the average American diet [32].

1.2.D Dyslipidemia



Abnormal lipoprotein metabolism is often observed as a secondary effect of diabetes mellitus, obesity, hypothyroidism, or kidney disease, while only few individuals carry inhered defects in lipoprotein metabolism, such as hyper- or hypocholesterolemia. The term dyslipidemia refers to abnormal plasma lipid levels, including hypercholesterolemia (increased levels of serum LDL cholesterol), hypertriglyceridemia (increased levels of TG), and low levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol. The combination of low HDL cholesterol, high LDL cholesterol, and hypertriglyceridemia is referred to as the lipid triad, and along with other non-lipid risk factors comprise the metabolic syndrome, which is highly correlated to increased risk for CVD [33]. Accordingly, the TC to HDL cholesterol ratio is a more significant predictor of risk than TC alone [34].

The role of lipoproteins in the metabolism of TG and cholesterol in relationship to CVD has been highly discussed over the last decades. Numerous epidemiological studies have shown that high concentrations of plasma TC and LDL cholesterol are associated with an increased risk for atherosclerosis [35]. A meta-analysis conducted on 90,000 patients showed that 1 mmol (39mg/dL) reduction in the concentration of LDL cholesterol resulted in a 23% reduction in cardiovascular events [36].

The Framingham Heart Study was a significant project that revealed the association between development of CVD risk and plasma lipid abnormality. This study began in 1948 and monitored over ten thousand subjects that had several risk factors for CVD, in particular an abnormal blood lipid profile [34]. Since the first results of the Framingham Heart Study were published, various trials have been



conducted to analyze the impact of these factors on occurrence of CVD, with an emphasis on serum cholesterol levels [1].

Over the last decade, there have been various advancements to control and minimize the risk and incidence of CVD, particularly enhancing and monitoring plasma lipid profiles. The Adult Treatment Panel (ATP) has been set up by the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) to provide guidelines for maintaining optimal cholesterol levels. ATP III, originally published in 2002 and updated in 2004, is the most current panel as warranted by advances in the science of cholesterol management [1].

Apart from TC and LDL cholesterol, numerous epidemiological studies suggest that low levels of HDL cholesterol (<1.0 mmol/L or 40mg/dL) represent a significant risk factor for cardiovascular events, independent of LDL cholesterol levels [37], whereas high levels of HDL cholesterol act as a protective agent against CVD [38]. A decrease in HDL cholesterol levels can be due to one or a combination of the known non-modifiable risk factors (*e.g.* genetic aberrations) or the modifiable risk factors, such as obesity, malnutrition, and different drugs, like anabolic steroids, beta-blockers, progestins, and isotretinoin [1]. It has also been shown that often a low HDL cholesterol combination, in part also explains the risk generated by abdominal obesity. Due to the low-high state of HDL cholesterol and TG levels, respectively, this combination is characteristic of insulin resistance syndrome, and provides a link between obesity, diabetes, and dyslipidemia.



1.4 Current Therapies

1.4.A Statin Drugs

Since a major risk factor for CVD is elevated LDL cholesterol, numerous studies have been conducted to identify methods to lower this lipoprotein. Most common therapy used for lowering LDL cholesterol focuses on hydroxyl-methylglutaryl coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase inhibitors, also known as statins [1]. This class of drugs was developed to compete with HMG-CoA for binding at the catalytic site of HMG-CoA reductase and therefore to decrease the synthesis of cholesterol [39]. There are several statins on the market that are widely prescribed for hypercholesterolemic patients to achieve guideline-recommended LDL cholesterol goals and can reduce the risk of initial and recurrent cardiovascular disease by 20-30 % [40].

However, statins are known to cause severe adverse effects such as heartburn, diarrhea, flatulence, nausea, vomiting, headache, rhabdomyolysis, myalgia, myositis, and raised level of liver enzymes [1]. Also statins are not suitable for patients with increased levels of serum transaminase, active liver disease, or if pregnant or lactating. Also, interaction with other medications needs to be closely monitored when therapy with statins occurs for extended periods of time [1].

1.4.B Bile Acid Sequestrants Agents (BASA)

Bile acid sequestrants agents (BASA) are another class of drugs for decreasing the levels of LDL cholesterol. They generally work by interfering with the enterohepatic recirculation. Bile acid sequestrants bind bile acids in the gut, forming insoluble complexes which are excreted. By blocking enterohepatic recirculation and



15

diminishing the liver of ready-made bile acids, the liver increases synthesis of cholesterol and up-regulates LDL receptors, which results in increased clearance of LDL cholesterol from the systemic circulation. As a new generation of BASA therapy, Colesevelam is considered to be a high-capacity agent, with four to six times increased potential as compared with older BASA. It can reduce LDL cholesterol in a dose-dependent manner [41]. Although the side effects are somewhat of a lesser degree as compared with the old generation of BASA, some gastrointestinal distress, such as abdominal pain, constipation, heartburn, and bloating does occur.

1.4.C Cholesterol Absorption Inhibitors (Ezetimibe)

Ezetimibe, similar to BASA, blocks the exogenous pathway of cholesterol metabolism and can lower LDL cholesterol to a similar extent as Colesevelam. It works by inhibiting the absorption of ingested cholesterol by about 50% [42]. However, because Ezetimibe is extensively metabolized in the liver and it is systemically absorbed, there are concerns with regards to the safety of administering the drug during pregnancy, to nursing mothers and children, and other patients with impaired liver function. Some of the noted side effects associated with Ezetimibe include gastrointestinal distress, headache, fatigue, and myalgia.

1.4.D Niacin

Niacin (Nicotinic acid) is a well known therapy to increase HDL cholesterol, while decreasing the LDL and TC in plasma. Niacin inhibits the release of free fatty acids from adipose tissue and the production of TG in the liver. In addition, niacin also directly inhibits the hepatocyte microsomal diacylglycerol acyltransferase-2 (DGAT2), the key enzyme involved in the conversion of diacylglycerol to



triglycerides. Decreased synthesis of TG results in intrahepatic degradation of Apo B, with less VLDL available to produce LDL cholesterol. Moreover, niacin can decrease the size of the VLDL particle, which affects the rate of exchange of TG for cholesterol mediated by CETP. The acquired excess triglycerides in the large LDL particles undergo rapid hydrolysis by hepatic lipase, which leads to the formation of small dense LDL particles.

Thus, the goal of niacin therapy is to reduce LDL and TC levels, as well as increase levels of HDL cholesterol, overall improving the lipoprotein plasma profile. However, multiple adverse effects, such as nausea, abdominal pain, flushing, and pruritus have been reported, and the poor patient adherence make this a non desirable drug. Furthermore, several clinical studies have advised that therapy involving nicotinic acid in high doses caused glucose intolerance in patients with abnormal glucose metabolism [43], as well as high toxicity levels and gastrointestinal disturbance [40]. Nicotinic acid therapy has also been found to decrease insulin sensitivity and increase plasma glucose levels [44, 45].

1.4.E ApoA1 Milano Complex

The importance of Apo A1, the main structural protein of HDL (70%) has been well established, as it plays a major role in RCT, removing cholesterol from macrophages and returning it to the liver for excretion in bile. Previous animal studies have shown that augmenting Apo A1 increases HDL cholesterol levels and decreases atherosclerosis and cardiovascular events [1]. The recent research studies investigated a recombinant Apo A1 Milano complex, which was shown to



increase HDL cholesterol levels in patients with acute coronary syndrome [46], but this is an invasive treatment requiring intravenous dosing.

Other Apo A1 targeting therapies are under investigation, including synthetic peptides such as L-5F, D-4F, and ETC-642, which are intended to imitate the favorable effect of Apo A1 in promoting cholesterol efflux from macrophages, decrease inflammation, and progression of atherosclerosis [47-50]. However, the application of these peptides is limited since the administration of the treatment is intravenous, and the peptides have a complex structure and are very expensive to produce. Therefore, a different approach to increase Apo A1 remains to be discovered.

Recently, several new therapies targeting lipoproteins have been applied in clinics, either as monotherapy or in combination with statins, but severe side effects and poor outcome warrant more research. A recent analysis showed that during 1999-2006 the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia and related factors remained stationary among the US population, despite the increase in usage of cholesterol lowering medications [51].

Thus there is an acute need for a new therapeutic approach that can reduce the circulating cholesterol levels and improve the HDL/LDL cholesterol ratio significantly, without the incurrence of adverse effects. It has been suggested that LDL and HDL cholesterol should be adjusted simultaneously in order to prevent CVD. The risk for a cardiovascular event can be decreased by nearly 1% for each1% reduction in LDL and by more than 1% for each 1% increase in HDL, suggesting that improvement in



both lipoprotein fractions has a synergistic effect as compared with either lipoprotein alone [52].

There is also a further need of replacing current statin therapy and regulating cholesterol at a gene signaling level, which the new emerging therapies are targeting. Many studies are underway to identify new choices for therapies that can decrease the LDL cholesterol, while increasing the HDL cholesterol with minimal side effects. One of the targeted therapies currently being studied is inhibition of CETP [40]. Promising results were obtained by partial inhibition of CETP [1], and if a suitable drug can be formulated, this therapy can be successful in clinical management of hypercholesterolemia.

1.4.F Omega-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

Over the last decade, several other treatments intended to improve the lipid profile have been developed, especially naturally derived as food supplements. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids can reduce the production and secretion of VLDL particles, and increase TG removal from VLDL and chylomicron particles via the upregulation of lipoprotein lipase. Several studies have shown that when doses higher than 3g/day of omega-3 fatty acids were administrated, TG were reduced by 32% [53, 54]. However, not enough statistics are known about the decrease in CVD risk, especially in woman, since most studies on fish consumption and omega-3 fatty acids were conducted in men. Also, the overall lipid profile was improved only when omega-3 fatty acids supplements were given in combination therapy with statin drugs, reducing some major coronary events in patients followed for 4.6 years [54].

1.4.G Other Natural Compounds



Since most synthetic drugs designed to treat hypercholesterolemia have so far, a low success rate in decreasing the rate of cardiovascular events, most therapeutic interventions include an aggressive change in diet and lifestyle, alone or in combination with drug therapy. Some approaches include consuming green tea [55], plant sterols [56], soluble fiber [57], cocoa and dark chocolate [58] have produced promising results and warrant further investigation.

More recent studies have found that the probiotic bacteria, especially bile salt hydrolase (BSH)-active probiotic bacteria, have demonstrated their ability to decrease cholesterol levels in several randomized clinical trials [59-62]. It was reported that an increased activity of BSH can increase intraluminal bile acid deconjugation, resulting in raised levels of circulating deconjugated bile salts, which in turn decrease cholesterol absorption by enterocytes [63, 64]. Various algal and seaweed extracts have also been studied to determine their ability to decrease hypercholesterolemia and avoid cardiovascular events. Several scientists have reported that seaweeds, isolated algal polysaccharides and their water-soluble fractions demonstrated hypocholesterolemic effects in experimental animals [65, 66]. Recent research conducted by Bocanegra *et al* showed that the lipoprotein profile of male Wistar rats was significantly improved when fed freeze-dried algae added to their diets for 3 weeks, reducing the TC, TG, phospholipids, and protein contents of the various lipoprotein fractions [67].

1.4.H ProAlgaZyme (PAZ)

PAZ algae infusion is the fermentation product of a blend of freshwater organisms, including red and green algae [68]. It contains less than 100 ppm of total



dissolved solids, consisting of a mixture of approximately 90% salts (free of heavy metals at a detection limit of < 0.1 ppm), while the remaining 10% is a proprietary mixture of organic constituents. In a preliminary study, Oben *et al* [68] evaluated the effects of PAZ on body weight, body mass index, blood lipids, fasting blood glucose levels, and markers of inflammation in individuals with the metabolic syndrome. The results showed a significant beneficial outcome on the various parameters analyzed, including the lipid profile, suggesting that PAZ could be an effective method for lowering the risk of developing CVD.

1.5 Metabolomics

As observed in recent reports regarding therapies for hypercholesterolemia and risk for CVD, it was concluded that the lipid profile alone does not provide a complete picture of the disease progression. Analysis of a multifactorial disease, such as atherosclerosis and other forms of CVD, using a limited number of biomarkers can lead to inaccurate diagnosis and treatment regimes, weakening the advancement of new therapies. In contrary, the omics-based approaches (metabolomics, in particular) have allowed scientists to characterize, at the molecular level, complex biological systems and their changes in pathological processes [69, 70] providing an excellent tool for examining phenotypes using hundreds of metabolite descriptors.

It has been determined that the human genome encodes approximately 30,000 genes, which are responsible for translating more than 100,000 distinct proteins [70]. The complete set of all chromosomes and genes is referred to as the genome, a term widely used in research for more than seven decades. However, the 'omic'



technology was not introduced until 1986 by Thomas Roderick [71]. The science of the genomes of organisms was implemented to provide information about the function of different genes and to compare them among multiple organisms.

Moreover, along with genomics, the science of proteomics signifies the comprehensive study of proteins produced by an organism during its lifetime based on its genome. However, the proteome of an organism might change due to several factors, including cellular environment, biochemical interactions, while the genome remains constant. Also, newly translated proteins might undergo various modifications (such as glycosylation, phosphorylation, degradation, alternative splicing) and might not be part of the cellular processes or the organism's metabolism. Thus, it is more accurate to study proteins or metabolites that have been part of biochemical and cellular processes, providing an accurate state about the changes within the system under different conditions, including environment, drugs, disease, and toxicity. These discoveries lead to the emerging field of metabolomics, the latest 'omic' approach, which measures changes in populations of low molecular weight metabolites under a given set of conditions [72].

Metabolomics is a comprehensive and quantitative study of the complete set of intracellular and extracellular metabolites produced as an end product of an organism's metabolism [70]. This technique can be utilized to investigate the effect of environmental stress or chemical composition of the organism, metabolite pattern, effect of a drug, or disease progression. The analysis can be performed using cells, tissues, body fluids, such as urine, saliva, plasma, and tears [73], having the option to perform it as a non-invasive procedure. One of the important attributes of



metabolomics is the possibility of identifying a molecule or a set of molecules responsible for changes in the physiology of an organism under a particular stress. Metabolite profiles can be regarded as key indicators of normal phenotype and pathology, providing novel information about new biomarkers, drug interactions, toxicological insult, nutritional status, and the effects of these factors on the genome.

The human metabolome is directly influenced by exogenous (such as diet, drugs, physical status, and stress) and endogenous factors (such as body composition, age, gender, and health status), which vary amongst individuals (Figure 1.3). Metabolomics technology can bring new insight into personalized medicine and might help answer questions related to specific metabolites by integrating or connecting different biochemical pathways. Qualitative and quantitative metabolomic analyses provide a view of the biochemical status of an organism at a definite time, under specific conditions. Thus, the extension of this technology to human medicine and human nutrition offers enormous potential, with the possibility of linking metabolomics with the wider elements of nutrigenomics.




Figure 1.3 Exogenous and Endogenous Factors Likely to Influence the Human Nutritional Metabolome [74]



1.6 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance and Mass Spectroscopy

Since the majority of the metabolites are present virtually in all tissues and fluids, the concentration of the metabolites is the major factor that distinguishes different phenotypes [75]. Therefore, the techniques to analyze the samples and process the acquired data must be highly specific and accurate. At present, with rapid advances in analytical chemistry technologies, including nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy and mass spectrometry (MS), the capacity of accurately identifying small metabolites has become easier.

There are different types of MS techniques that can be used, including time-offlight (TOF) MS, tandem quadruple (TQ) MS, which can be combined with liquid chromatography, gas chromatography or capillary electrophoresis, as a useful analytical tool for metabolomics [76-78]. While MS technology is more sensitive as compared with NMR, the disadvantage is that MS does not confer a uniform detection, caused by variable ionization efficiency. Also, MS based techniques require extensive preparation of the sample before analysis, such as extraction and derivatization, which can alter the composition of the sample and can lead to invalid data and conclusions [79].

The NMR technique is based on the magnetic properties of atomic nuclei, usually hydrogen nuclei (¹H NMR), but ¹³ C, ³¹ P^{, 15} N, and ¹⁹ F are also commonly used. The identification of different atomic nuclei is based on their resonance frequencies, which are dependent on their locations or environment in the molecule [80]. The intensity of the NMR spectrum changes linearly with the concentration of the



compound present. [81]. Thus, signal intensities give direct information about the relative concentrations of different compounds in a complex mixture.

The major advantage of using NMR spectroscopy is its high reproducibility (> 98%), ability to analyze both liquid and solid samples, tissues and cell extracts [82], and it can help in the identification of unknown metabolites. NMR spectroscopy can fingerprint an entire biological sample, requiring minimum sample size and sample preparation time, while evaluating the entire metabolic status of an organism. ¹H NMR metabolomics approach has been largely used with great success in identification of biomarkers and monitoring the effects of biological stressors [83], and more recently it has become an important tool for diagnosis and treatment of chronic diseases, such as obesity, diabetes and CVD [2].

An innovative study conducted by Brindle *et al* in patients with CVD identified characteristic plasma metabolites that were different in individuals with angiographically normal coronary arteries [84]. This discovery could displace the necessity to perform angiography, an invasive and time consuming procedure. Comparing patients with triple vessel disease with controls, this metabolomics technique was able to predict the presence of coronary disease with a specificity of 93% and a sensitivity of 92% [84]. However, when these data were reproduced, after normalization by gender and statin drug therapy, it was shown that it can only predict for 61% of the patients [85]. Still, while ¹H NMR is considered a poor predictor on a per sample basis, perturbations in specific metabolites associated with the metabolic syndrome have been identified. Numerous studies have followed and acknowledged



changes in plasma profiles, in particular associated with alterations in the lipoprotein particles, insulin resistance and atherosclerosis [86-88].

Metabolomics, despite the smaller expected size of the metabolome, compared with the other 'omics' approaches, generates an enormous quantity of data. Analysis and interpretation is a critical step that could otherwise lead to erroneous conclusions. Thus, the choice of the most appropriate statistical analysis is crucial, in order to extract the maximum amount of accurate biological information from the data set. Although, the area of developing sophisticated statistical tool is still in progress, a number of techniques are available.

1.7 Multivariate Data Analysis (MVDA)

MVDA is a powerful tool for the analysis of data sets containing a large number of variables. It visualizes the correlation between variables in complex or large data sets (*e.g.*, thousands of signals in NMR spectra) in relation to a target variable such as disease status, diet intervention, or environmental influence.

Principal Component Analysis (PCA)

PCA is a multivariate projection method designed to extract and display the systemic variation in the data matrix X (the table of integrals from NMR plasma samples). This is an unsupervised analysis, which implies that the software has no prior knowledge about the data matrix [89]. This method enables differentiation between samples based on their metabolites composition. In PCA, the data sets of related large variables are transformed into small uncorrelated variables known as principle components (PC). This transformation is defined so that the first PC has the largest possible variance (accounts for as much of the variability in the data as



possible), and each succeeding component has the highest variance possible under the constraint that is orthogonal to the preceding component.

The data set is visualized as a PCA score plot, where each score represents one observation, such as one NMR spectrum (one sample/animal). The observations will be grouped together or scattered based on the similarities and/or dissimilarities in their metabolomic profile. The contribution of each individual variable to PC can be calculated as a loading plot. The corresponding loading plot will provide information about the part of the spectrum that is responsible for the similarities and/or dissimilarities in the data set. The specific region of the spectrum that is responsible for the spectrum that is respectrum that is responsible for the spectrum that is responsible

Partial Least Square (PLS) and PLS- Discriminant Analysis (PLS-DA)

PLS is a regression extension of PCA, which is used to connect the information in two blocks of variables, X and Y. The data from the metabolomics analysis (X parameter) can be correlated with other independently measured factors (*e.g.* total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, gene expression) keeping these factors as Y parameters. PLS helps to determines whether or not a correlation exists between the two data sets, which otherwise would be considered unrelated.

In PLS-DA the data set is distributed into classes and its objective is to find a model that separates the classes of observation on the basis of their X-variables, while using a hypothetical Y-variable. Both of these methods of analysis are supervised, which implies that some information about the data set is provided to the software prior to analysis [89]. Taken together, PCA, PLS and PLS-DA give valuable



information about the variability and/or similarity of large data sets, which otherwise will be an impossible task using standard statistical tools.

1.8 Metabolite Identification and Quantification (Chenomx)

Chenomx software represents a metabolite database that helps to identify and quantify the concentration of the metabolites by comparing the acquired data set or NMR signal intensities to pre-existing signals from a library of compounds with known concentration. While MVDA identifies the areas of the spectrum responsible for similarities and/or dissimilarities between the groups, it is important to identify the metabolites represented by the spectral regions or peaks in question.

The corresponding metabolites within that range can be easily identified using Chenomx NMR 7.6 software (Chenomx Suite, Alberta, Canada). This software uses targeted profiling to reduce analysis time, combining advanced analysis tools with a compound library of more than 300 common metabolites. Targeted profiling can be applied to any NMR spectra of virtually any complex mixture, including urine, blood plasma, saliva, and various cell extracts. Chenomx is MVDA independent, but it is faster and easier to use once the peaks responsible for the separation between groups are identified [81].

Profiling of the NMR spectra is accomplished using the Profiler module. Essentially, a Lorentzian peak-shaped model of each reference compound is generated from the database information and superimposed upon the actual spectrum. The linear combination of all modeled metabolites gives rise to the total spectral fit, which can be evaluated with a summation line. Once the changes in metabolite concentrations have been determined, the pathways affected by the



respective metabolites can be identified using online Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) database (http://www.genome.jp/kegg).

Therefore, the metabolite profiling technique has the potential to become an essential tool in medicine, which can be applied for diagnosis and treatment of any disease. Metabolites can be detected based on any of their physiochemical or biological properties, and they can be used as early biomarkers to distinguish between healthy and diseased state, toxicity levels, nutritional interaction or other factors. Metabolomics approach is a relatively new field in medicine and pharmacology, but reveals great promise, which potentially will allow for better understanding of human diseases, including CVD.

For decades, numerous scientists across the globe have been investigating the etiology of atherosclerosis and the occurrence of cardiovascular events, such as stroke and myocardial infarction. Despite considerable improvements in therapeutics of cardiovascular disease, epidemiological data reveal that the mortality rates associated with the disease are still on the rise. Recent developments have suggested that identifying the changes in the metabolite profiles will grant a higher degree of understating of the disease. Because of its excellent capability to analyze the metabolome, metabolomics provides a much more comprehensive assessment of patient's health status, in comparison with the measurement of particular metabolites. This approach makes metabolomics a great technique for the identification, quantification, and development of biomarkers.

1.9 Aims of Study



The aim of the present study is to document the potential effect of PAZ and its subfractions on plasma lipid concentrations in a hypercholesterolemic hamster model. In a preliminary study, Oben *et al* [68] evaluated the effects of PAZ on body weight, body mass index, blood lipids, fasting blood glucose levels, and markers of inflammation in individuals with the metabolic syndrome. The results showed a significant beneficial outcome on the various parameters analyzed, including the lipid profile, suggesting that PAZ could be an effective method for prevention of CVD. However, some inconclusive results were reported by Oben *et al* [68], such as exceptionally large changes observed between week 8 and 10, with some subjects of TG or LDL cholesterol were reported at 10 weeks.

Thus, this study evaluates the efficacy of PAZ as a preventative and therapeutic agent in an animal model. Male Golden Syrian hamsters were selected as the experimental model since they have been used extensively to study human lipoprotein metabolism [90, 91]. It has been noted that in both humans and hamsters, the liver has a low rate of cholesterol synthesis and it is the main site for plasma LDL cholesterol clearance [92].

Hypothesis

The study hypothesizes that PAZ and/or its subfractions would effectively improve the plasma lipoprotein profile. In addition, it is hypothesized that the change in the plasma metabolomic profile due to PAZ intervention will reflect the improvement in the plasma lipid profile.

The following specific aims were undertaken to test the hypothesis:



AIM 1: To determine the biological activity of complete PAZ and its subfractions in a hypercholesterolemic animal model

The objective of this aim was to test the effectiveness of PAZ and its subfractions as a preventative agent in a high fat induced hypercholesterolemic hamster model. For this, PAZ and its subfractions were administrated as part of drinking fluid along with the dietary (high fat) regimen. Eighty male Golden Syrian hamsters were randomized into control (n=20; control diet) and treatment groups (n=60; high fat diet, 30% calories from fat). Further, the control group was subdivided into water (CW) or PAZ (CP) groups (n=10), based on their drinking fluid. The treatment group was subdivided into 6 groups (n=10): HW (water), HP (complete PAZ), HF1, HF2, HF3, HF4 (4 different subfractions of PAZ obtained by sequential affinity gel chromatography). After 4 weeks of treatment, animals were sacrificed and blood was collected by cardiac puncture. Hepatic mRNA was extracted and analyzed to determine if there were changes in the gene expression related to HDL cholesterol metabolism.

AIM 2: To investigate the change in plasma metabolomic profiles upon administration of PAZ and the biologically active fraction (BAF)

Plasma metabolomic profile using 1D proton NMR was performed to determine the changes in metabolite concentrations among animals that received water (control), complete PAZ, and the fraction found to be biologically active in Aim1. Data were analyzed using multivariate data analysis SIMCA P+ software. Targeted profiling was applied to NMR spectra to determine the metabolites that are different between the groups of interest. Once these metabolites had been identified and



quantified (Chenomx), analysis of the pathways involving the specific metabolites was conducted. In addition, metabolomic profile was correlated with the plasma lipid profile.

AIM 3: To determine the therapeutic effect of the biologically active fraction on hypercholesterolemia

The goal of this aim was to determine if plasma lipid profile of animals in a hypercholesterolemic state can be improved upon treatment with the fraction found to be biologically active in Aim 1. Secondly, this part of the study aimed to determine the time course required for the therapeutic effect on lipid parameters.

Fifty male Golden Syrian hamsters were fed a high fat diet for 4 weeks prior to receiving treatment with the biologically active fraction found in Aim 1. Group HW from Aim 1 was considered as group T0 (T = treatment) for this study and served as control, *i.e.* animals on high fat diet and water alone. The remaining 40 animals were randomized into 5 groups: T3, T7, T10, T14, and T21, and received the biologically active fraction for 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days, respectively, as their drinking fluid. Each group was sacrificed following the same procedure as in Aim 1 for blood and tissue collection. Further, hepatic mRNA was extracted and analyzed to determine if there were changes in the gene expression related to HDL cholesterol metabolism.

AIM 4: To investigate the change in plasma metabolomic profiles upon therapy with the biologically active fraction

Plasma metabolomic profile using 1D proton NMR was performed to determine the changes in metabolite concentrations after 21 days of therapy, as compared with controls. Data were analyzed using multivariate data analysis SIMCA P+ software.



Targeted profiling was applied to NMR spectra to determine the metabolites that are different between the treatment group (T21) and the T0 group, which served as control for this aim. Once these metabolites were identified and quantified using Chenomx software, analysis of the pathways involving the specific metabolites was conducted. In addition, the metabolomic profile was correlated with the plasma lipid profile.



CHAPTER 2

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 AIM 1: To determine the biological activity of complete PAZ and its subfractions in a hypercholesterolemic animal model

Rationale: The objective was to test the effectiveness of PAZ and its subfractions as a preventative agent in a high fat diet induced hypercholesterolemic hamster model. For this, PAZ and its subfractions were administrated as part of the drinking fluid along with the dietary regimen. Plasma lipid profile was measured using enzymatic assays, while lipoprotein distribution was determined by density gradient ultracentrifugation. Further, hepatic mRNA expression was also analyzed for potential effects on genes involved in HDL/ reverse cholesterol transport.

2.1.A Animal Protocol and Experimental Design

Eighty male Golden Syrian hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*), LVG strain were purchased from Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA. Upon arrival they were 8 weeks old and weighed approximately 80 g each. The animals were acclimatized and given water and laboratory rodent diet 5001(Lab Diet, Richmond, IN) *ad libitum* for one week prior to the initiation of the experimental regimen. They were housed individually in a temperature-controlled room (25° C) and maintained on a 12-h light/dark cycle. They were randomly distributed into control (n = 20, receiving control purified diet, Table 2.1) and treatment groups (n = 60, receiving high fat diet, 30% calories from fat, Table 2.2). Further, the control group was subdivided into water (CW) or PAZ (CP) groups (n=10/group), based on their drinking fluid.



Ingredient	kcal/gm	grams/kg
Casein	3.58	220
Dextrose	3.8	160
Cornetareh	2.6	460.0
Constarch	3.0	460.9
L-Arginine	4	1
L-Tryptophan	4	1.1
Cellulose	0	50
Corn Oil	9	60
Mineral Mix (#260001)	0	35
Vitamin Mix (# 360001)	3.84	10
Choline Bitartrate	0	2

Table 2.1 Composition of the Control Purified Diet

Mineral Mix contained the following components: 6,000 g/kg Calcium (Ca); 3,100 g/kg Phosphorus (P); 6,100 g/kg Potassium (K); 1,500 g/kg; Sodium (Na); 2,310 g/kg; Chlorine (Cl); 600g/kg Magnesium (Mg); 140 g/kg Iron (Fe); 5.8 g/kg Copper (Cu); 3.7 g/kg Manganese (Mn); 23.5 g/kg Zinc (Zn); 0.32 g/kg Chromium (Cr); 1.6 g/kg Iodine (I); 0.20 g/kg Selenium (Se); 0.20 g/kg Fluorine (F); 1.20 g/kg Cobalt (Co).

Vitamin Mix contained the following components: 2 g/kg Thaimin HCl; 1.5 g/kg Riboflavin; 0.7 g/kg Pyridoxine HCl; 9 g/kg Niacin; 4 g/kg Calcium Pantothenate; 0.2 g/kg Folic acid; 0.06 g/kg Biotin; 1 g/kg Vitamin B12 (0.1%); 0.4 g/kg Menadione Sodium Bisulfite; 1g/kg Vitamin A Palmitate; 10 g/kg Vitamin E Acetate; 0.6 g/kg Vitamin D3; 10 g/kg Inositol; 959.5 g/kg Sucrose. Vitamin Mix was used at rate of 10 g/kg of diet.



Ingredient	kcal/gm	grams/kg
Casein	3.58	110
Lactalbumin	3.9	110
Cornstarch	36	370.2
	1	25
	4	0.2
	4	0.5
Dyetrose	3.8	175
Cellulose	0	44
Coconut Oil	9	138.6
Soybean Oil	9	1.4
TBHQ*	0	0.028
Cholesterol Mineral Mix	0	1
(#260001)	0	35
(# 360001)	3.84	10
Choline Bitartrate	0	2

 Table 2.2 Composition of the experimental custom purified diet

Abbreviation: * TBHQ: Tertiary butylhydroquinone



The treatment group was subdivided into 6 groups (n=10/group): HW (water), HP (complete PAZ), HF1, HF2, HF3, HF4 (4 different subfractions of PAZ obtained by sequential affinity gel chromatography). Figure 2.1 describes the study design for Aim 1. Drinking fluid was given at either 5% (HF1, HF2, and HF3) or 20% (HP, HF4) concentration (v/v) for 4 weeks. This dose was established based on the previously reported dose of 4 oz of PAZ per day in humans [68]. Modifications were made to account for body weight and amount of fluid intake per day in hamsters versus humans. High fat diet containing 30 % calories from fat (Dyets Inc., Bethlehem, PA) was used to induce the rapid hypercholesterolemic state in the hamsters. Body weight, food and water intake were recorded weekly.





Figure 2.1 Study Design for Aim 1



Prior to the beginning of the study, PAZ was fractionated by sequential affinity gel chromatography (Oxford Biomedical Research, Rochester Hills, MI). Complete PAZ was passed through four chromatography columns (2.7 cm x 23 cm; approximately 90 mL of resin at full capacity) at a flow rate of approximately 6 mL per minute using a peristaltic pump (Figure 2.2).

Column 1 containing a weak anion exchange resin (diethylaminoethyl cellulose) captured proteins and on elution resulted in the F1 fraction. Column 2 containing a strong anion exchange resin (BioRad AG 1-X8) was designed to capture molecules containing carboxyl groups and other negatively charged functionalities, as well as negatively charged ions, and the eluate from the column was designated as the F2 fraction. Column 3 was a strong cation exchange column (Dowex Monosphere 88) intended to capture molecules containing amino groups and other positively charged functionalities, as well as positively charged ions. Eluate from column 3 was designated as the F3 fraction.

Column 4 (silica gel 90 C18 reversed phase) was a C18 derivatized column that binds non polar organic molecules. The eluate from this column was not used in this study. Instead, the flow through (labeled as F4), which contains relatively few molecules, including polar but uncharged organic molecules, as well as molecules of low polarity that were not captured by columns 1, 2, 3, or 4, was assessed for its effect on hamster lipid profile. The pH of all fractions was measured and adjusted to an approximate value of 7.0, prior to being administrated to the animals.





Figure 2.2 Separation of PAZ into Fractions by Sequential Affinity Gel Chromatography



After 4 weeks of treatment, animals were sacrificed and blood, liver, and adipose tissue were collected. Hamsters were fasted for 8 hours and anesthetized under CO_2 gas (Metro Welding, Detroit, MI) prior to sacrifice. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture with syringes previously rinsed in potassium ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) solution (15% w/v) and kept on ice. Plasma was separated and collected after centrifugation at 1,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. Liver and adipose tissue were collected and immediately flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen for subsequent analysis. The weight of the liver was recorded immediately after harvesting.

2.1.B Plasma Lipid Analysis

Various enzymatic assays were performed on the collected plasma to determine the changes in the lipoprotein concentrations as a result of PAZ and its subfractions administration. Plasma TC and TG concentrations were determined enzymatically, while HDL cholesterol was measured in the supernatant following precipitation with Mg²⁺/dextran sulfate (Pointe Scientific, Canton, MI). The concentration of non-HDL cholesterol was calculated as the difference between the measured TC and HDL cholesterol, and included as the sum of VLDL, IDL, and LDL cholesterol. Cholinecontaining phospholipids and free cholesterol was also determined enzymatically (Wako Chemicals USA Inc., Richmond, VA). The cholesterol ester was determined by taking the difference between the total and free cholesterol values. The detailed procedures, including modifications to the manufacturer's protocol are described below.



Total Cholesterol Assay

Briefly, 200 µl of 37°C pre-incubated reagent mixed with 2 µl of plasma sample was incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C and read at 490 nm using KC4 software (EL x 800 microplate absorbance reader, Bio-Tek, Winooski, VT). The reaction was carried out in a 96-well assay microplate. Calculations were done according to the formula provided in the manufacturer's protocol and plasma total cholesterol concentrations reported as mmol/L.

Triglyceride Assay

Briefly, 200 µl of 37°C pre-incubated reagent mixed with 2 µl of plasma sample was incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C and read at 490 nm using KC4 software, EL x 800 microplate absorbance reader. The reaction was carried out in a 96-well assay microplate. Calculations were done according to the formula provided in the manufacturer's protocol and triglyceride concentrations reported as mmol/L.

HDL Cholesterol Assay

For separation of HDL cholesterol, a 100 μ l of plasma sample was mixed with 10 μ l of reagent, and after 5 minutes incubation at room temperature, it was centrifuged at 2,000 x g for 5 minutes. For determination of the HDL cholesterol concentration, a 96-well assay microplate was used to mix 200 μ l of reagent with 10 μ l of supernatant, followed by incubation for 10 minutes at 37°C. The plate was read at a wavelength of 490 nm using KC4 software, EL x 800 microplate absorbance reader. Calculations were done according to the formula provided in the manufacturer's protocol and plasma HDL cholesterol concentrations reported as mmol/L.



Ultracentrifugation

The lipoproteins were isolated by density gradient ultracentrifugation, essentially as stated by Chapman *et al* [93]. For each group, lipoprotein isolations (x 2) were carried out using plasma pooled from 4-5 hamsters in 16 x 93 mm ultracentrifuge tubes. Lipoproteins were isolated using a Beckman SW-40 rotor (Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA) at 35,000 rpm and 15°C for 46 hours [94]. Follo wing ultracentrifugation, 26 x 500 µl fractions per tube were collected by sequentially pipetting from the top. The total cholesterol, triglyceride, choline-containing phospholipids, and free cholesterol concentration in each fraction were measured using enzymatic reagents as described. The lipoprotein profile and lipoprotein particle size (diameter) for LDL and HDL cholesterol molecules were determined, using the following formula [95] :

$$R = (nm) = \frac{1.093 (TG) + 1.044 (CE)}{0.968 (FC) + 0.97 (PL) + 0.705 (PR)} X (3 X 2.15)$$

D(nm) = 2R + 2(2.15)

In the above formula, TG, triglyceride mass; CE, Cholesterol Ester mass; FC, Free Cholesterol mass; PL, phospholipids mass; PR, protein mass; R, radius; D, diameter.

Phospholipids Assay

Briefly, the color reagent was mixed with the buffer, and 250 μ l of the reconstituted reagent mixed with 5 μ l of sample was incubated at 37 $^{\circ}$ C for 5 minutes. The reaction was carried out in a 96-well assay microplate and read at a wavelength of 570 nm using KC4 software, EL x 800 microplate absorbance reader. Calculations were done according to the formula provided in the manufacturer's protocol.



Free Cholesterol Assay

Briefly, the content of one bottle of color reagent was dissolved in the buffer solution. 200 μ l of the reconstituted color reagent mixed with 10 μ l of sample was incubated at 37°C for 5 minutes. The reaction was carried out in a 96-well assay microplate and read at a wavelength of 570 nm using KC4 software, EL x 800 microplate absorbance reader. Calculations were done according to the formula provided in the manufacturer's protocol. Further, amount of cholesterol ester was calculated by subtracting the free cholesterol from the total cholesterol amount.

2.1.C Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) for Gene Expression Analysis

Total RNA Extraction

Total RNA was extracted from liver tissues using miRNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) to determine the changes in the gene expression related to HDL cholesterol metabolism. Briefly, 25 mg of previously flash frozen liver tissue was homogenized in 700 μ l lysis reagent provided by the kit. After 5 minutes, 140 μ l of chloroform was mixed in the tube, following by centrifugation at 12,000 x g for 15 minutes at 4°C. The upper aqueous phase was removed, and 525 μ l of 100% ethanol was added to the tube. The mixture was then transferred into the RNeasy Mini columns. RWT and RPE buffers (provided by the kit) were added to the column and eluted via centrifugation at 8,000 x g. The total RNA was eluted with 40 μ l RNAase free H₂0 and centrifuged at 1,000 x g for 1 minute. It was stored at -80°C until further use.



Total RNA to cDNA Preparation

In summary, 0.4 μ g of total RNA was further subjected to reverse transcription using the High-Capacity RNA-to- cDNA Master Mix kit (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA). The reaction was carried in a total of 20 μ l mixture (4ul of Complete Master Mix, 8 μ l of total RNA, and 8 μ l of nuclease-free H₂O) in Master cycler (Eppendorf, Hauppauge, NY). The program was set for 5 minutes at 25°C, 30 minutes at 42°C, 5 minutes at 85°C, and 1 hour at 4 °C. The obtained cDNA was further used to perform quantitative PCR to determine the alteration in the gene expression due to the diet and treatment intervention.

Real time RT-PCR Analysis

A total of 2 µl of cDNA was used for each real-time RT-PCR reaction using SYBR Green Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, CA) and MX3005P instrument (Strategene, Santa Clara, CA) to determine the relative transcription levels of specific genes (ABCA1, ApoA1, CETP, and SRB1) involved in HDL/reverse cholesterol transport metabolism. The cycle conditions were: 10 min at 95°C followed by 40 cycles of incubation at 95°C for 15s each, then 60°C for 1 min. Optimization of primer concentration was performed prior to the experiment to avoid accumulation of nonspecific products or primer-dimers. Likewise, non-template control (NTC) wells were added to the plate for the same reason. Data were analyzed according to the comparative threshold (C_t) cycle method and normalized by glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) expression in each sample. Levels of gene expression were reported as fold differences compared with hamsters fed the high fat diet and water.



Table	2.3	Real	time	RT-P	CR	Primers
	_				_	

Gene	Primers	Reference
СЕТР	F:5'-AAGGGTGTCGTGGTCAGTTCT-3' R: 5'-ACTGATGATCTCGGGGGTTGAT-3'	[96]
Аро А1	F: 5'-ACC-GTT-CAG-GAT-GAA-AAC-TGT-AG-3' R:5'-GTG-ACT-CAG-GAG-TTC-TGG-GAT-AAC-3	[97] 3'
SRB-1	F:5'- AAG-CCT-GCA-GGT-CTA-TGA-AGC-3' R:5'- AGA-AAC-CTT-CAT-TGG-CTC-CCT-A-3'	[97]
ABCA1	F:5'-ATA-GCA-GGC-TCC-AAC-CCT-GAC-3' R: 5'-GGT-ACT-GAA-GCA-TGT-TTC-GAT-GTT-3	[98] 3'

Abbreviations: CETP, Cholesteryl ester transfer protein; Apo A1, Apolipoprotein A-1; SRB1, Scavenger receptor class B member 1; ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette

transporter A1



2.1.D Statistical Analysis

All data were expressed as the mean \pm standard error (SE). Differences between the control and treatment groups were determined using one-way analysis of variance tests (IBM SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). The data were analyzed to determine the effect of the algae infusion relative to distilled water, while the animals were fed the high fat diet. Statistical significance was defined as P < 0.05.

2.2 AIM 2: To investigate the change in plasma metabolomic profiles upon administration of PAZ and the biologically active fraction

Rationale: Plasma metabolomic profile using 1D proton NMR was performed to determine changes in metabolite concentrations among animals that received water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), and the biologically active fraction found in Aim 1. Data were analyzed using multivariate data analysis SIMCA P+ software. Targeted profiling was applied to NMR spectra to determine the metabolites that are present in different concentrations between the analyzed groups. Once these metabolites had been identified and quantified using Chenomx software, analysis of the pathways involving the specific metabolites was conducted.

2.2.A Sample Preparation

Plasma samples (from Aim 1) previously stored at -80°C were thawed and centrifuged at 9,000 X g for 3 minutes. Samples were diluted with deuterium oxide (D₂O) for proper optimization of the concentration. To these diluted samples a reference buffer (NMR solvent) solution of 5 mmol/L disodium-2,2-dimethyl 2 – silapentane-5-sulphonate (DSS) and 10 mmol/L imidazole in D₂O (Sigma-Aldrish, Mississauga, ON) was added in a 9 : 1 ratio (9 parts of diluted plasma sample : 1



part NMR solvent). DSS was used as spectral reference and imidazole as pH indicator for the NMR spectra. After preparation, samples were transferred to 5mm NMR tubes (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO).

2.2.B 1D ¹H-NMR Spectroscopy

The 1D ¹H-NMR technique was conducted on hamster plasma samples collected at the terminal point of the study (Aim 1) on a 600 MHz Agilent instrument, operating at 599.773MHz frequency and a temperature of 300 K. Prior work by Martin *et al* [99] was used as a starting point for the protocol, but further optimization was conducted. One-dimensional NMR spectra were acquired using the Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill (CPMG) spin-echo sequence [99] with presaturation to attenuate broad signals from proteins and lipoproteins. Application of the named pulse sequence resulted in spectra with signals only from the small metabolites, due to their longer transverse relaxation time. These spectra were measured using a spin-echo loop time of 0.16 s and a recycling time of 14 s. A total of 64 scans were collected using a spectral width of 10 parts-per-million (ppm) and an acquisition time of 4 s.

The NMR data were processed using ACD/ Spec Manager 7.00 software (Advanced Chemistry Development Inc., Toronto, Canada). The principal of the NMR spectrophotometer is that when an external magnetic field is applied, the magnetic moment of the nucleus aligns itself with the applied field to create different energy levels. Transitions of atomic nuclei between these energy levels over a period of time are recorded as free induction decay (FID) files.

Since these FID files are time domain signal files, it is very difficult to differentiate between the spectra of different compounds. Therefore, the FID files are further



stacked together as a group and then transformed by Fourier transformation (Ft, mathematical algorithm) to a frequency domain. After Ft, the acquired spectrum can be resolved into different peaks arising from different compounds or metabolites. Each metabolite is represented by single or multiple peaks in the spectra and the height of the peak represents the intensity/concentration of the metabolite. Spectra were processed by editing, auto-phasing, and auto-baseline correction using the ACD software. Intelligent binning was used to divide the edited spectra into 1000 bins. The spectra was further digitized to a table of common integrals and exported as a non-negative value text file for multivariate data analysis.

2.2.C Multivariate Data Analysis (MVDA)

Once ¹H-NMR spectra were converted to numeric values (digitized) using ACD software, MVDA was used for pattern recognition in the data set. This analysis was accomplished using SIMCA P+13.0 statistical software (Umetrics, Kinnelon, NJ).

PCA is a multivariate projection method designed to extract and display the systemic variation in the data (the table of integrals from NMR plasma samples). This unsupervised analysis was applied to the spectra of animals that received water, complete PAZ, and the biologically active fraction, and any differences between the metabolites were investigated. The corresponding loading plot provided information about the parts of the spectrum that are responsible for the similarities and/or dissimilarities in the data set. PLS is a regression extension of PCA and was used to correlate the plasma metabolomic profile with other measured factors, such as HDL cholesterol. In PLS-DA the data set was distributed into classes and its objective was



to find a model that separates the classes of observation on the basis of their Xvariables, while using a hypothetical Y-variable.

2.2.D Metabolite Identification and Quantification

MVDA was used to determine the regions of the spectra responsible for similarities and/or dissimilarities between the groups. Further, the focus was on the peaks of spectrum that differentiate the groups, and the corresponding metabolites within that range, which were identified using Chenomx NMR 7.6. Profiling of the NMR spectra was accomplished using the Profiler module. Metabolites from the data base were identified and quantified, and the pathways affected by the respective metabolites were identified using online KEGG database.

2.3 AIM 3) To determine the therapeutic effect of the biologically active fraction on hypercholesterolemia

Rationale: The aim was to determine the therapeutic effect of the biologically active fraction on animals which had already achieved a hypercholesterolemic state. Secondly, this part of the study aimed to determine the time course required for the effect of the biologically active fraction on lipid parameters.

In order to achieve this aim, the animals were fed high fat diet for the first four weeks of the study. This was followed by administration of the biologically active fraction via their drinking fluid for 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days, respectively. All groups were sacrificed following the same procedure as in Aim 1 for blood and tissue collection. Further, mRNA was extracted from liver tissues to determine the changes in the gene expression related to HDL cholesterol metabolism.

2.3.A Animal Protocol and Experimental Design



Forty male Golden Syrian hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*), LVG strain were purchased from Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA. Upon arrival they were 8 weeks old and weighed approximately 80 g each. The animals were acclimatized and given water and laboratory rodent diet 5001(Lab Diet, Richmond, IN) *ad libitum* for one week prior to the initiation of the experimental treatment. They were housed individually in a temperature-controlled room (25°C) and maintained on a 12-h light/dark cycle.

Animals were randomly distributed into 5 groups (n=8; T3, T7, T10, T14, and T21) and fed HF diet for 4 weeks prior to the treatment regimen (Figure 2.3). The biologically active fraction, (20% v/v) was administrated as their drinking fluid for 3 days (to T3 group), 7 days (to T7 group), 10 days (to T10 group), 14 days (T14 group), and 21 days (T21 group), respectively, as their treatment. HW group from Aim 1 was considered as T0 groups in this study and served as control, as the animals in this group received HF diet for 4 weeks and water as their drinking fluid. At each end point of the study, same procedure described in Aim 1A was used to sacrifice the animals and collect blood and tissues.





Figure 2.3 Study Design for Aim 3



2.3.B Plasma Lipid Analysis

Various lipid assays were performed on the collected plasma to determine the changes in the lipoprotein concentrations as a result of the therapeutic intervention with the biologically active fraction of PAZ. Plasma TC and TG concentrations were determined enzymatically, while HDL cholesterol was measured enzymatically in the supernatant following precipitation with Mg²⁺/dextran sulfate as previously described (Pointe Scientific, Canton, MI). The concentration of non-HDL cholesterol was calculated as the difference between the measured TC and HDL cholesterol, and included the sum of VLDL, IDL, and LDL cholesterol.

Total Cholesterol Assay

As previously discussed under Aim 2.1.B

Triglyceride Assay

As previously discussed under Aim 2.1.B

HDL Cholesterol Assay

As previously discussed under Aim 2.1.B

2.3.C Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction for Gene Expression Analysis

Total RNA Extraction

As previously discussed under Aim 2.1.C

Total RNA to cDNA Preparation

As previously discussed under Aim 2.1.C

Real time RT-PCR Analysis

As previously discussed under Aim 2.1.C (relative transcription levels of Apo A1)



2.3.D Statistical Analysis

All data were expressed as the mean \pm standard error (SE). Differences between the control (HW/T0) and treatment groups (T3, T7, T10, T14, and T21) were determined using one-way analysis of variance tests. The data were analyzed to determine the therapeutic effect of the biologically active fraction of PAZ relative to distilled water, after the animals were fed a high fat diet for 4 weeks. Statistical significance was defined as P < 0.05.

2.4 AIM 4) To investigate the change in plasma metabolomic profiles upon therapy with the biologically active fraction

Rationale: Plasma metabolomic profile using one-dimensional proton NMR was performed to determine the changes in the concentration of metabolites present in the control group (T0) and the treatment group representing the final time point, T21. Data were analyzed using multivariate data analysis SIMCA P+ software. Targeted profiling was applied to NMR spectra to determine the metabolites that have a significantly different concentration between the groups. Once these metabolites have been identified and quantified using CHENOMX software, analysis of the pathways involving the specific metabolites was conducted.

2.4.A Sample Preparation

As previously discussed under Aim 2.2.A

2.4.B 1D ¹H-NMR Spectroscopy

As previously discussed under Aim 2.2.B

2.4.C Multivariate Data Analysis

As previously discussed under Aim 2.2.C



PCA and PLS-DA were applied to T0 and T21 groups to look for any differences between the metabolites. PLS was used to correlate plasma lipid profile with the metabolomic data.

2.4.D Metabolite Identification and Quantification

As previously discussed under Aim 2.2.D



CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

3.1 AIM 1: To determine the biological activity of complete PAZ and its subfractions in a hypercholesterolemic animal model

3.1.A Metabolic Effects of High Fat Diet and PAZ Supplementation

All hamsters survived the entire duration of the study. Animals in all experimental groups consumed similar amounts of food (grams) and fluid (ml). The final body weight and weight gained over the duration of the study was not significantly different among high fat groups or the control; however CP had a significantly lower body weight and weight gain as compared with the groups that received the high fat diet. Liver weights were also not significantly different between groups (Table 3.1).

The change in body weight over time is shown in Figure 3.1. Week 0 represents the body weight (grams) that the animals had upon arrival, whereas week 0' represents the body weight after the first week of acclimatization, when animals were fed regular diet. Week 0' was the starting point on the high fat diet, and week 4 was the final time point of the study. There was a similar trend in body weight gain for all animals; however the animals receiving the high fat diet had a faster growth rate as compared with the animals receiving regular purified diet.



	CW	СР	HW	HP	HF1	HF2	HF3	HF4
Body weight, g	106.9±2	104.9±3*	119 ±3	117±3	117±3	118±3	122±2	119±3
Body weight gain, g/4 wk	21.6±1	19.7±2.5*	32.7±2	29.7±2	30.3±2.6	33.1±3	29.9±3.1	31.1±1
Food Intake, g/d	6.2±0.1	6.2±0.2	7.1±0.1	6.8±0.1	6.7±.0.2	6.8±0.2	7.0±0.2	6.6±0.2
Energy Intake, Kcal/day	22.6±0.4	22.6±0.7	29.3±0.4	28.1±0.4	27.7±0.8	28.1±0.8	28.9±0.8	27.3±0.8
Fluid intake, ml/d	8.8±0.4	8.7±0.5	8.3 ±0.2	8.2±0.6	8.3±0.7	7.7±0.5	7.7±0.4	7.2±2.1
Liver weight, g	3.8 ±0.1**	3.7 ±0.1**	5.4 ± 0.2	5.8±0.3	5.5±0.2	5.4±0.3	5.5±0.3	5.4±0.2

Table 3.1 Anthropometrics of Male Hamsters Fed High Fat Diet and PAZ or its Fractions for 4 Weeks as a Potential Preventative Agent for Hypercholesterolemia

Notes: Values are mean \pm SE, n = 10/group. * P < 0.05, CP vs. all treatment groups (high fat diet); **P < 0.001, CW and CP vs. all treatment groups (high fat diet). Statistical program ANOVA with Tukey's procedure was used, SPSS software.





Figure 3.1 Change in Body Weight over 4 Weeks of the Study. Male hamsters received high fat diet and PAZ or one of the fractions for the duration of the study, starting with week 0'. Values are mean of the body weight of all animals from the group. N = 10/group


3.1.B Plasma Lipid Analysis

In order to determine that the hypercholesterolemic state was induced in the animals that received a high fat diet, plasma TC, TG, and non-HDL cholesterol concentrations were measured in animals that received regular diet and water (CW) and high fat diet and water (HW). Results showed a significant increase in plasma TC and non-HDL cholesterol. The TG in HW group were also increased, but did not reach significance (Figure 3.2). Therefore, we concluded that we successfully induced a hypercholesterolemic state in the animal model.

When comparing the groups on high fat diet alone, plasma total cholesterol (Figure 3.3) and triglycerides (Figure 3.4) were not significantly different in the treatment groups as compared with the high fat controls, HW. However, the TC/HDL cholesterol ratio was significantly lower in all experimental animals when compared with controls (P < 0.05 in the HP, HP1, and HP2 groups; P < 0.001 in the HP3 and HP4 groups, Figure 3.5). Consumption of PAZ or its fractions lowered non-HDL cholesterol concentrations in the HP group (P < 0.05) and in the HP3 and HP4 (P < 0.001) groups, as compared with the controls (Figure 3.6). Moreover, the concentration of plasma HDL cholesterol was significantly increased in the HP, HP3, and HP4 groups (P < 0.001), when compared with controls (Figure 3.7).



60



Figure 3.2 Effect of High Fat Diet on Lipid Profile

Notes: Lipid parameters (TG, TC, and non-HDL cholesterol) of CW and HW groups. Values are mean \pm SE. * P < 0.001 as compared with CW group.

Abbreviations: TG, triglycerides; TC, total cholesterol; HDL, high lipoprotein concentration; CW, control diet + water group; HW, high fat diet +water group





Figure 3.3 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on Total Cholesterol Concentration

Notes: Values of total cholesterol measured in groups that received high fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4) for 4 weeks. Values are mean ± SE. No sig. difference as compared with HW group.







Notes: Values of triglycerides measured in groups that received high fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4) for 4 weeks. Values are mean ± SE. No sig. difference as compared with HW group.



63



Figure 3.5 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on TC/ HDL Ratio

Notes: The ratio of TC/HDL cholesterol was measured in groups that received high fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4) for 4 weeks. Values are mean \pm SE. * P < 0.05, ** P < 0.001 as compared with HW group.





Figure 3.6 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on non-HDL Cholesterol Concentration **Notes:** Values of non-HDL cholesterol measured in groups that received high fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4) for 4 weeks. Values are mean \pm SE. *P < 0.05, ** P < 0.001 as compared with HW group.





Figure 3.7 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on HDL Cholesterol Concentration **Notes:** Values of plasma HDL cholesterol measured in groups that received high fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4) for 4 weeks. Values are mean ± SE. * P < 0.05 as compared with HW group.



66

Ultracentrifugation was performed on pooled plasma (4-5 hamsters/group) and lipoprotein fractionation indicated that a higher proportion of cholesterol was carried in the HDL fraction in the HP group (Figure 3.8), as compared with HW group. Particle sizes for LDL (Figure 3.9) were calculated and there was no statistical difference between the groups that received PAZ or its subfractions, when compared with HW. However, when HDL particle size was measured, data showed that the particle sizes of HF3 and HF4 groups were significantly increased as compared with control group (Figure 3.10). Data augment the previous finding that HDL cholesterol concentration has been increased in these groups, but also the particle size was enlarged.





Figure 3.8 Effect of PAZ on Lipoprotein Particle Distribution

Note: The graph depicts an increase in the high density particles in HP group (3.5 mmol/L) vs. HW (3.1 mmol/L) group. Total cholesterol concentrations were measured in all fractions (0.5 mL/fraction) using standard enzymatic reagents. Graph represents the mean of pooled plasma for HW and HP groups.





Figure 3.9 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on LDL Particle Size

Notes: Values are mean \pm SE. No sig. difference as compared with HW group. High fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4)





Figure 3.10 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on HDL Particle Size

Notes: Values are mean \pm SE. * P < 0.05 as compared with HW group. High fat diet along with water (HW), complete PAZ (HP), PAZ fraction 1 (HF1), PAZ fraction 2 (HF2), PAZ fraction 3 (HF3), and PAZ fraction 4 (HF4) for 4 weeks



3.1.C Effect of PAZ and its Subfractions on Gene Expression

In an attempt to elucidate the mechanism by which PAZ and its subfractions altered the lipoprotein profile by increasing HDL, the activities of ABCA1, Apo A1, SRB1, and CETP were assessed. When compared with the control group (HW), hamsters fed the PAZ (HP group) and fraction 4 (HF4 group) had the highest fold increase (approximately 5-fold) in Apo A1 expression, while the HP3 group showed a minor increase (2-fold, Figure 3.11a). ABCA1 sterol transporter expression showed a moderate increase in the HP3 and HP4 groups (1.7-fold and 1.8-fold, respectively, Figure 3.11b), as compared with HW group.

In addition, SRB1 activity levels were also modestly higher in the HP3 and HP4 groups (approximately 2-fold, Figure 3.11c) when compared with controls. The differences in the other treatment groups (HP1 and HP2) were not significant. The data suggest that the increase in HDL cholesterol concentrations in the HP, HP3, and HP4 groups was in part attributable to the increase in production of nascent HDL cholesterol particles and/or clearance via SRB1 receptors. Hepatic CETP expression was characterized by a 2-fold decrease only in the HP4 group as compared with those receiving water alone (Figure 3.11d). Inhibition of CETP is consistent with the decrease in plasma non-HDL lipoprotein along with the increase in HDL cholesterol.

Correlations between plasma lipid concentrations and hepatic gene expression levels were sought to identify potential relationships between molecular processes and circulating lipid concentrations (Table 3.2). TC, non-HDL cholesterol, and TC/HDL ratio were negatively correlated with hepatic expression of genes of ABCA1



and SRB1. There was a significant positive correlation between plasma HDL cholesterol concentrations and mRNA levels of Apo A1 (P < 0.01). In addition, positive correlations between HDL cholesterol concentrations and mRNA levels of SRB1 were observed.





Figure 3.11 Effect of PAZ and its fractions on Gene Expression

Notes: Relative levels of expression of genes that encode key proteins involved in the regulation of cholesterol and HDL metabolism in animals fed a high fat diet plus complete PAZ (HP) or one of the fractions, as compared with the control group on high fat diet and water (HW). Values are expressed as mean, n= 5 animals per group (n=10 for HP group); Apo A1, Apolipoprotein A1 (3.11a); ABCA1, ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (3.11b); SRB1, Scavenger receptor class B member 1



(3.11c); CETP, Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (3.11d). Each mRNA was normalized with GAPDH and is expressed as a fold change.



Genes	Total cholesterol	HDL cholesterol	TC/HDL ratio	non-HDL cholesterol
APO A1	0.153	0.399*	-0.342*	-0.243
ABC A1	-0.068	0.252	-0.33*	-0.33*
SRB 1	-0.190	0.252	-0.420*	-0.459*
CETP	0.040	-0.055	0.056	0.099

Table 3.2 Correlation between Plasma Cholesterol Concentrations and Expression of Hepatic Genes

Note: Values are Pearson correlation, N = 10. *P < 0.01



3.2 AIM 2: To investigate the change in plasma metabolomic profiles upon administration of PAZ and the biologically active fraction

3.2.A Multivariate Data Analysis

To further investigate the preventative effect of the algal infusion PAZ on the hypercholesterolemic hamsters, a metabolomic approach was applied to plasma samples from control (HW) and treatment groups HP and HF4. One-dimensional NMR spectra were acquired using the CPMG spin-echo sequence with presaturation, in order to attenuate broad signals acquired from proteins and lipoproteins. The resulting spectra have the signals from small metabolites only (Figure 3.12). During the pre-processing of the spectra, the acquired NMR files were edited, while auto-phasing and auto-baseline correction was applied (Figure 3.13). The spectra were further digitized to a table of common integrals and exported as a non-negative value text file for multivariate data analysis.





Figure 3.12 NMR Spectrum obtained on 600 MHz Agilent Instrument, using CPMG Spin-Echo Sequence with Presaturation





Figure 3.13 ¹H NMR Spectra of HW, HP, and HF4 Groups

Notes: Spectra were stacked together as a group and transformed by Fourier transformation to a frequency domain. Spectra were processed by editing, auto-phasing, and auto-baseline correction. Further, intelligent binning was used to divide the edited spectra in 1000 bins.



To confirm that the metabolic profile of the hamsters that received high fat diet was changed, PCA was performed on the NMR data. Three-dimensional PCA plot (Figure 3.14) shows a clear separation between CW and HW groups, which represents the effect of the high fat diet. PLS-DA of the same two groups, reinforcing the effect of the diet is shown in Figure 3.15. We also analyzed CP and HP groups, to look at the effect of diet and addition of PAZ, and a clear separation of the two groups was observed (Figure 3.16).

Further, the focus was on the groups that received the high fat diet along with the complete PAZ infusion or fraction 4 and compare them with the control group that received water and high fat. Figure 3.17 represents the 3-dimensional PCA plot, providing overall information on metabolic changes of the hamsters due to PAZ or fraction 4 administrations, as compared with controls. To better analyze each treatment group as compared with the control animals, PCA and PLS-DA was conducted selecting two groups at the time.

The effect of complete PAZ infusion on the metabolic profile resulted in a clear separation of the HP and HW groups, as shown in Figure 3.18. The effect of administration of fraction 4 to the hamsters resulted in clustering of the HW and HF4 groups, showing an apparent separation based on their metabolic profiles (Figure 3.19a). The corresponding loading plot (Fig. 3.19b) provided significant information on the contribution of each variable to the pattern in the score plots, which can aid in metabolite identification in Chenomx software.







Figure 3.14 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by High Fat Diet. 3-Dimensional CMPG_PCA score plot revealed that CW and HW groups were clearly separated. P < 0.05

Notes: CW, regular purified diet and water; HW, high fat diet and water. N = 8 hamsters/group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PCA, principal components analysis





Principal Component 1

Figure 3.15 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by High Fat Diet. 2-Dimensional CMPG_PLS-DA score plot revealed that CW and HW groups were clearly separated due to the diet received. P < 0.05

Notes: CW, regular purified diet and water; HW, high fat diet and water. N = 8 hamsters/group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PLS-DA, partial least squares – discriminant analysis





Principal Component 1

Figure 3.16 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by Diet and PAZ Consumption. 2-Dimensional CMPG_PLS-DA score plot showing group discrimination (CP vs. HP) based on PAZ and the diet received. P < 0.05 **Notes:** CP, regular purified diet and PAZ; HP, high fat diet and PAZ. N = 8

hamsters/group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PLS-DA, partial least squares – discriminant analysis





Figure 3.17 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by High Fat Diet and Drinking Fluid. 3-Dimensional CMPG_PCA score plot revealed that HW, HP and HF4 groups were clearly separated. P < 0.05 **Notes:** HW, high fat and water; HP, high fat diet and PAZ; HF4, high fat and fraction 4. N = 8 hamsters/group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PCA, principal components analysis





Figure 3.18 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by PAZ.
2-Dimensional CMPG_PLS-DA score plot showing group discrimination (HW vs. HP)
based on PAZ administration. P < 0.05
Notes: HW, high fat diet and water; HP, high fat diet and PAZ. N = 8 hamsters/group.
Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PLS-DA, partial least squares-

discriminant analysis







Figure 3.19 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by Fraction 4. **3.19a**. 3-Dimensional CMPG_PCA score plot revealed that HW and HF4 groups were clearly separated. P < 0.05; **3.19b** CMPG_PCA corresponding loading plot indicating the regions of the spectra that are responsible for the group separation **Notes:** HW, high fat diet and water; HF4, high fat diet and fraction 4. N = 8 hamsters/group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PCA, principal components analysis



HF4 HW Further, the discriminant analysis indicated that the treatment with PAZ and fraction 4 induced specific metabolites patterns that enabled class assignment of the hamsters (Figure 3.20). The PLS-DA score plot revealed that the group that received PAZ was clearly separated by the principal component 1 from the group that received fraction 4.

In addition, 2-dimensional PLS plot allowed for the evaluation of the PAZ and fraction 4 on changes in the plasma metabolome, inducing a significant coefficient of determination $R^2 = 0.6$, when the data were correlated with the plasma HDL concentrations (Fig. 3.21). The PLS regression between the plasma HDL concentration and the NMR variable revealed that 60 % of the variations in the plasma profile can be predicted by different treatment conditions (PAZ vs. fraction 4).

Furthermore, PLS analysis showed that HDL cholesterol concentrations were positively correlated with the plasma metabolic profile, indicating that the composition shift toward the higher density lipoproteins is reflected in the change in concentrations of some of the small metabolites present in plasma.





Principal Component 1

Figure 3.20 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by PAZ and F4. 2-Dimensional CMPG_PLS-DA score plot showing group discrimination (HF4 vs. HP) based on PAZ and F4 administration. P < 0.05**Notes:** HF4, high fat diet and fraction 4; HP, high fat diet and PAZ. N = 8

Notes: HF4, high fat diet and fraction 4; HP, high fat diet and PA2. N = 3 hamsters/group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PLS-DA, partial least squares – discriminant analysis







Notes: Changes among the metabolomic score values (X) of individual hamsters fed a high fat diet and different drinking fluids (F4 or PAZ fraction) are plotted along with the corresponding individual plasma HDL scores (Y), as determined by the PLS analysis. The coefficient of determination ($R^2 = 0.6$) among X and Y that was calculated after linearization of the relationship is indicated.



3.2.B Metabolite Identification and Quantification (Chenomx)

A total of fifty plasma metabolites of the control and treatment groups were identified and quantified using Chenomx NMR Suite software, including amino acids (leucine/isoleucine, valine), organic acids (3-hydroxybutyrate, lactate, acetate, acetoacetate, citrate, pyruvate, creatine, creatinine), carbohydrates (glucose, galactitol, glucitol), and phospholipids-associated molecules. The metabolites that had a significantly lower concentration in the group that received the algal infusion PAZ and in the group that received fraction 4 are summarized in Table 3.4 and 3.5, respectively.

Results indicated that the concentrations of betaine, phosphocholine, and glycerol-phosphocholine were significantly lowered in HP group as compared with HW. Treatment with the algal infusion PAZ on hypercholesterolemic hamsters also resulted in decreased levels of several amino acids, such as arginine, leucine, isoleucine, threonine, taurine.

When the experimental animals received the fraction 4 of PAZ (HF4 group), the concentration of additional metabolites resulted to be significantly lower, as compared with the control group. Besides the metabolites that were found to be significantly lower in HP group, we determined that sixteen additional metabolites were decreased in the group that received fraction 4 (HF4) as a preventative agent. Additionally to the phospholipids-associated metabolites betaine, phosphocholine, and glycerol-phosphocholine, which recently have been linked to atherosclerosis, we also found that also choline, carnitine, and trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO) have been significantly reduced in HF4 group.



89

Table 3.3 Metabolites with Significantly Lower Concentration in Hypercholesterolemic Hamsters that Received PAZ for 4 Weeks as a Preventative Agent as Compared with HW

Metabolites	Peak Regions (ppm)
Acetoacetate	2.3, 3.4
Arginine	1.6, 1.7, 1.9, 3.2, 3.8
Betaine	3.3, 3.9
Glucitol	3.6, 3.7, 3.8
Glutamine	2.1, 2.4, 3.8, 6.9, 7.6
Glycerol	3.6, 3.8
Isoleucine	0.9, 1.0, 1.2, 1.5, 2.0, 3.7
Leucine	0.9, 1.7, 3.7
Glycero-phosphocholine	3.2, 3.6, 3.7, 3.9, 4.3
Taurine	3.2, 3.4
Threonine	1.3, 3.6, 4.3



Metabolites	Peak Regions (ppm)			
2-Aminobutyrate	1.0, 1.9, 3.7			
3-Hydroxybutyrate	1.2, 2.3, 2.4, 4.1			
Acetate	1.9			
Acetoacetate	2.3, 3.4			
Alloisoleucine	0.9, 1.0, 1.3, 1.4, 2.1, 3.7			
Arabinitol	3.6, 3.7, 3.8, 3.9			
Arginine	1.6, 1.7, 1.9, 3.2, 3.8			
Betaine	3.3, 3.9			
Carnitine	2.4, 3.2, 3.4, 4.6			
Choline	3.2, 3.5, 4.1			
Galactitol	3.7, 4.0			
Glucitol	3.6, 3.7, 3.8			
Glucose	3.2, 3.4, 3.5, 3.7, 3.8, 3.9, 4.7, 5.2			
Glutamine	2.1, 2.4, 3.8, 6.9, 7.6			
Glycerol	3.6, 3.8			
Isoleucine	0.9, 1.0, 1.2, 1.5, 2.0, 3.7			
Lactate	1.3, 4.1			
Leucine	0.9, 1.7, 3.7			
Malonate	3.1			
O-Phosphocholine	3.2, 3.6, 4.1			
Pyruvate	2.4			
Glycero-phosphocholine	3.2, 3.6, 3.7, 3.9, 4.3			
Succinate	2.4			
Taurine	3.2, 3.4			
Threonine	1.3, 3.6, 4.3			
Trimethylamine N-oxide	3.2			
Valine	1.0, 2.3, 3.6			

Table 3.4 Metabolites with Significantly Lower Concentration in Hypercholesterolemic

 Hamsters that Received F4 as a Preventative Agent as Compared with HW



3.3 AIM 3: To determine the therapeutic effect of the biologically active fraction on hypercholesterolemia

3.3.A Metabolic Effects of High Fat Diet and Treatment with Fraction 4

Animals were fed a high fat diet and water for the first four weeks of the study, time that represented the end point for T0. After four weeks, groups T3, T7, T10, T14, and T21 received the biologically active fraction of PAZ as their drinking fluid for 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days, respectively, while continuing the high fat diet. Animals were sacrificed at different time points, based on the number of days they were designed to receive treatment.

The net body weight gain of the animals for the first 4 weeks of the study, as well as the food efficiency ratio (g gained/ g feed) were statistically significant in group T7 (P < 0.05, Table 3.5). The ratio of fluid/water intake and the ratio of liver weight/body weight were not statistically different when compared with T0 group (Table 3.5). While on treatment with PAZ fraction, all animals survived the duration of the study and no abnormal characteristics related to the physiology of the animals were noted.



	Т0	Т3	Τ7	T10	T14	T21
Body weight gain, g/4 weeks	37.2±2.1	40.8±3.7	50.6±6.2*	44.2±3	34.4±3.5	39.8±2.9
Food intake, g/d	7.1±0.1	7.4±0.2	7.5±0.2	7.4±0.2	6.9±0.2	7.4±0.1
Food efficiency ratio, g gain/g feed	0.16±0.01	0.2±0.02	0.22±0.01*	0.2±0.01	0.17±0.01	0.19±0.01
Fluid intake, PAZ/water	1.0±0.0	0.96±.04	0.95±.05	1.1±.04	1.0±.06	1.1±.04
Liver/body weight	4.6 ±0.1	4.9±0.1	4.7±0.1	4.8±0.1	4.7±0.1	4.5±0.2

Table 3.5 Anthropometrics of Male Hamsters Fed High Fat Diet and Water for 4 Weeks, Followed by High Fat and F4 Treatment for 0, 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 Days

Notes: Values are mean ± SE, N = 10/group (T0), N = 8/group (T3, T7, T10, T14,

T21). *P < 0.05 when compared with T0. Statistical program ANOVA with Tukey's procedure was used, SPSS software



3.3.B Plasma Lipid Profile upon Therapy with Fraction 4

Plasma lipid profile of the hypercholesterolemic hamsters was enzymatically measured to determine the therapeutic effect of fraction 4 when administrated as the drinking fluid. Plasma TC (Figure 3.22) and TG (Figure 3.23) were not significantly reduced in the treatment groups while receiving the fraction 4, as compared with the control group. However, the TC/HDL ratio was significantly lower in all treatment groups when compared with the control T0 group (P < 0.001, Figure 3.24). Moreover, the concentration of HDL cholesterol was significantly increased in T3 group (P < 0.05), as well as in group T21 (P < 0.001), when compared with the control group (Figure 3.25).

Consumption of the biologically active fraction of PAZ, F4 also significantly reduced the non-HDL cholesterol in all groups, as compared with the control animals (P < 0.001 in T3, T7, and T10; P < 0.05 in T14 and T2, Figure 3.26). These results corroborates with our previous findings that ingestion of PAZ and its biologically active fraction can improve the plasma lipoprotein profile by significantly increasing the HDL cholesterol concentrations, while decreasing the non-HDL cholesterol and TC/HDL ratio in hypercholesterolemic hamsters.







Notes: Plasma total cholesterol concentrations in male hamsters fed high fat diet for 4 weeks, followed by high fat and F4 for 0, 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days. Values are mean \pm SE. No sig. difference as compared with T0 group.




Figure 3.23 Effect of Fraction 4 on Triglycerides Concentration

Notes: Plasma triglyceride concentrations in male hamsters fed high fat diet for 4 weeks, followed by high fat and F4 for 0, 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days. Values are mean ± SE. No sig. difference as compared with T0 group.







Notes: Plasma TC/HDL cholesterol concentrations in male hamsters fed high fat diet for 4 weeks, followed by high fat and algal treatment for 0, 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days. Values are mean \pm SE. *P < 0.001 as compared with T0 group.







Notes: Plasma HDL cholesterol concentrations in male hamsters fed high fat diet for 4 weeks, followed by high fat and algal treatment for 0, 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days. Values are mean \pm SE. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.001 as compared with T0 group.









3.3.C Therapeutic Effect of the Biologically Active Fraction (F4) on Apo A1 Gene Expression

In order to determine the therapeutic potential of the biologically active fraction of PAZ at the molecular level and to validate the significant increase in HDL cholesterol concentration, the activity of Apo A1 gene expression was evaluated. Also, the earliest time point at which the genetic expression is altered was determined. Apo A1 gene expression analysis showed that hamsters fed the biologically active fraction for 10 days (T10) had a moderate (3-fold) increase, while hamsters fed the PAZ fraction for 21 days exhibit an approximate 6-fold increase (Figure 3.27).

These results correlate with the increase in the plasma concentration of HDL cholesterol, as Apo A1 is responsible for the production of nascent HDL cholesterol particles. Thus the active fraction of PAZ increased HDL concentration at least in part by increased production of nascent HDL particles both when given as a treatment or preventative agent [100].







Notes: Animals were fed a high fat diet for 4 weeks, followed by high fat diet plus F4 for 0, 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days, respectively. Values are expressed as mean of threshold cycle (ct) values; n=8 animals per group (n=5 for T0 group). Each mRNA was normalized with GAPDH and is expressed as a fold change.

Abbreviations: ApoA1, Apolipoprotein A1



3.4 Aim 4: To investigate the change in plasma metabolomic profiles upon therapy with the biologically active fraction F4

3.4.A Multivariate Data Analysis

To investigate the therapeutic effect of the biologically active fraction on the hypercholesterolemic hamsters, a metabolomic approach was applied to plasma samples from controls (T0) and 21 days treatment group (T21) by ¹H NMR spectroscopy. PCA was performed on the NMR data to get the overall information on metabolomic profile of hamsters, due to fraction 4 administration. The clustering of the T0 and T21 groups showed a clear separation of the hamsters in PCA plots (Figure 3.28a). Due to the fact that one of the samples in group T21 was outside of the ellipse of Hotelling's 95% confidence interval, it was considered a strong outlier and removed from the PCA analysis. The corresponding loading plot (Figure 3.28b) along with the variable importance on projection (VIP) plot (Figure 3.28c) provided significant information on the contribution of each variable to the pattern in the score plots, which can aid in metabolite identification in Chenomx software.

The discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) indicated that the treatment with PAZ fraction for 21 days induced specific metabolites patterns that enabled class assignment of the hamsters (PLS-DA, Figure 3.29). The PLS-DA score plot revealed that the control and treatment group were clearly separated by the principal component 1. In addition, the 2- dimensional PLS plot (Figure 3.30 a, b) allowed for the evaluation of the F4 treatment on changes in the plasma metabolome. For instance, the treatment with the active fraction for 21 days induced a significant coefficient of determination $R^2 = 0.7$, when the data were correlated with the plasma



lipid profile (Figure 3.30a). The PLS regression between the NMR variables and the plasma lipid profile revealed that 70% of the variations in the lipid profile can be predicted by different treatment conditions (water vs. F4).

Furthermore, as determined by the PLS analysis, HDL cholesterol concentrations were positively correlated with the plasma metabolomic profile (R² = 0.62), indicating that there is a positive correlation between the higher density lipoproteins concentrations and some of the small metabolites present in plasma (Figure 3.30b). Moreover, the orthogonal projections to latent structures (OPLS) aides in the process of identifying statistically significant and potentially biochemical significant metabolites based on contribution to the model and their reliability. The OPLS_S Plot (Figure 3.31) provided important information on the contribution of each variable to the pattern in the score plots, specifically was used to identify possible metabolites that correlate the metabolomic profile to HDL cholesterol concentration.





Figure 3.28 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by F4 **3.28a**. CMPG_PCA score plot revealed that T0 and T21 groups were clearly separated along [t1] and [t2]. P < 0.05; **3.28b**. CMPG_PCA corresponding loading plot indicating the regions of the spectra that are responsible for the group separation **Notes:** T0, high fat diet and water; T21, high fat diet and F4 for 21 days. N = 8/hamsters per group.

Abbreviations: CPMG, Carr-Purcell-Meiboom-Gill; PCA, principal components analysis; PLS-DA, partial least squares-discriminant analysis





Figure 3.28c. Characterizations of Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by F4. **Notes:** Variable importance on projection (VIP) plot shows the contribution of each variable to the pattern, with the regions of spectra in the far most left of the plot carrying most of the weight.



Principal Component 1

Figure 3.29 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by F4. Two-dimensional PLS-DA score plot showing group discrimination based on treatment received. P < 0.05

Notes: T0, high fat diet and water; T21, high fat diet and F4 for 21 days. N = 8 hamsters per group.





Figure 3.30 Correlation of the Fraction 4-Induced Plasma Metabolomic and Lipid Profile.

Notes: Changes among the metabolomic score values (X) of individual hamsters fed a high fat diet and different drinking fluids (water or F4) are plotted along with the corresponding individual plasma lipid profile scores (Y), as determined by the PLS analysis. The coefficient of determination (R^2) among X and Y that was calculated after linearization of the relationship is indicated; **3.30a** Relationship between the plasma metabolomic and complete lipid profile. ($R^2 = 0.7$); **3.30b** Relationship between the plasma metabolomic profile and HDL cholesterol. ($R^2 = 0.62$); N = 8 hamsters per group.

Abbreviations: T0, high fat diet and water; T21, high fat diet and fraction 4 for 21 days. PLS, partial least squares





Figure 3.31 Characterizations of the Plasma Metabolomic Changes Induced by F4. **Notes:** CPMG_OPLS-S plot used to identify possible metabolites that correlate the metabolomic profile to HDL cholesterol metabolism

Abbreviations: OPLS, orthogonal partial least square



3.4.B Metabolite Identification and Quantification (Chenomx)

A total of fifty plasma metabolites of the control and treatment groups were identified and quantified using Chenomx NMR Suite software, including amino acids (leucine/isoleucine, valine), organic acids (3-hydroxybutyrate, lactate, acetate, acetoacetate, citrate, pyruvate, creatine, creatinine), carbohydrates (glucose, galactitol, glucitol), phospholipids-associated molecules. The metabolites that had a significantly lower concentration in the group that received the biologically active fraction for 21 days are summarized in Table 3.6.

Results indicated that the concentrations of choline, phosphocholine, glycerolphosphocholine, betaine, and carnitine, were significantly lowered in T21 group as compared with T0. Treatment with the biologically active fraction of PAZ on hypercholesterolemic hamsters also resulted in decreased levels of several amino acids (arginine, leucine, isoleucine, threonine, taurine), as well as some other important molecules (3-hydroxy-butyrate, acetate, glycerol) involved in fatty acids metabolism.



Metabolites	Peak regions (ppm)	Metabolites	Peak regions (ppm)
2-Aminobutyrate	1.0, 1.9, 3.7	Glucitol	3.6,3.7,3.8
3-Hydroxybutyrate	1.2, 2.3,2.4,4.1	Glycerol	3.6,3.8
Acetate	1.9	Isoleucine	0.9,1.0,1.2,1.5,2.0,3.7
Arabinitol	3.6,3.7,3.8,3.9	Lactate	1.3,4.1
Arginine	1.6,1.7,1.9,3.2,3.8	Leucine	0.9,1.7,3.7
Betaine	3.3,3.9	Phosphocholine	3.2,3.6,4.1
Carnitine	2.4,3.2,3.4,4.6	Glycero- phosphocholine	3.2,3.6,3.7,3.9,4.3
Choline	3.2,3.5,4.1	Taurine	3.2,3.4
Galactitol	3.7,4.0	Threonine	1.3,3.6,4.3

Table 3.6 List of Plasma Metabolites Quantified to be at Lower Concentrations

 After 21 Days of Treatment

Notes: Plasma metabolites found to be significantly lower in T21 group as compared with T0 group. The metabolites were quantified using the Chenomx 7.6 NMR Suite database and significance was obtained using 2 tailed Student t-tests, P < 0.05. T0, high fat diet and water; T21, high fat diet and F4 for 21 days, N = 4 hamsters/group for quantification of metabolites.



CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The current study was designed to examine the preventative and therapeutic effect of the algal infusion product Proalgazyme and its subfractions in a dietinduced hypercholesterolemic hamster model. More specifically, the objective was to investigate the possible mechanism of action whereby certain fractions of PAZ can influence the cholesterol metabolism pathway. In addition, the scope was also to determine the plasma metabolomic profile and compare the changes produced with the plasma lipid profile, and possibly identify new relationship between smaller metabolites and hypercholesterolemia.

A hamster model was used in this study given that it is the most appropriate model to study lipoprotein metabolism. Due to interspecies differences in the lipoprotein metabolism, it is important to study the metabolic changes in a non-primate model that develops the most similarities to the human disease. The hamster model used in the current study has been previously found to be suitable for exploring hypercholesterolemia associated with dietary changes [97] and the high fat diet used was proven to induce a hypercholesterolemic state in the hamster model [100]. As previously mentioned, plasma lipoprotein metabolism in hamsters is comparable to humans due to similar component and metabolism of both lipoproteins and bile acids [101, 102].

Different types of algal cellular biomass and algal extracts have been studied for their ability to lower circulating cholesterol concentrations in hamsters consuming



hypercholesterolemic diets [103] and in humans [104], and showed a reduction in plasma total cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol, and/or triglycerides concentrations.

Previous findings [68] when PAZ was administrated to humans for 10 weeks to evaluate its effect on cardiovascular risk factors associated with the metabolic syndrome, showed a decrease in plasma total cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol, and triglycerides concentrations. Moreover, the levels of HDL cholesterol were significantly increased, and PAZ was well tolerated with no notable adverse effects [68]. However, the large difference in the lipid profile of treatment versus the control group needed more validation. The mechanism of action required further investigation as well. Therefore, one of the objectives of the current study was to determine the hypolipidemic effects of PAZ and its subfractions. Moreover, the research investigated the mechanism by which plasma HDL cholesterol was augmented and if the increase can be detected in the hepatic mRNA expression of the key genes involved in HDL/RCT metabolism. Further, the plasma metabolomic profile was analyzed and correlated with the lipid profile of the hypercholesterolemic hamsters.

The results of the current study corroborate previous findings on plasma lipoprotein concentrations upon administration of dietary PAZ [68]. Administration of PAZ and its subfractions for 4 weeks as a preventative agent for hypercholesterolemia resulted in a significant improvement in plasma lipid profile and an alteration in the genes involved in HDL/ RCT metabolism. Results showed a highly significant reduction in non-HDL cholesterol and TC/HDL ratio in animals that received fraction 3 (HF3 group) and 4(HF4 group), and a moderate decrease in



112

groups HP (non HDL and TC/HDL), HF1 and HF2 (TC/HDL). In addition, the HDL cholesterol concentration was significantly increased in HP, HF3, and HF4 groups. To confirm the increase in HDL cholesterol plasma concentrations in the treatment groups, plasma ultracentrifugation was performed on pooled plasma of all hamsters. An increase in the high density portion of cholesterol was observed after TC assay was performed on all fractions, confirming the raise in HDL cholesterol plasma concentrations.

An important objective of the study was to explain the improvement in plasma lipid profile upon administration of complete PAZ and its subfractions to hamsters fed a high fat diet. Evaluation was performed on the genes involved in HDL metabolism (Apo A1, ABCA1, SRB1, and CETP) in liver tissues collected from hamster. Apo A1 is involved in the production of nascent HDL particles, while ABAC1 transports lipids from peripheral tissues to nascent HDL to form larger HDL particles. The mature HDL particle is removed via SRB1 receptor on the liver into bile, clearance from plasma occurs, and Apo A1 molecule is recycled. CETP transfers lipids from HDL to non-HDL particles, and partial inhibition of this enzyme is beneficial for lowering cholesterol concentrations in plasma. Using a real time RT-PCR technique, we have examined the ability of ProAlgaZyme to transcriptionally regulate these genes involved in HDL/RCT metabolism in hepatic tissue.

Administration of PAZ and its subfraction 4 did alter the ABCA1, APO A1, SRB1 and CETP hepatic mRNA levels, regulating the transcription of genes that encode specific proteins that control cholesterol levels. Transcription of Apo A1, ABCA1, SRB1 genes was up-regulated, whereas transcription of the gene encoding CETP



was down-regulated after 4 weeks dietary intervention with PAZ and/or its subfraction 4. Therefore, high non-HDL cholesterol and TC concentrations, and low HDL cholesterol can be treated by up-regulating ABCA1, APO A1, and SRB1, and down-regulating CETP expression.

In summary, the real-time RT-PCR analysis of gene regulation using mRNA from hamster liver samples corroborates the changes in lipid plasma profile noted in the first part of the study. Therefore, we concluded that the biologically active fraction of PAZ is fraction 4, and it was used to complete further aims in the project. The composition of fraction 4 is, however uncertain at this point. One-dimensional ¹H NMR spectroscopy of the sample resulted in a spectrum with major peaks found around 1.2- 2.0 ppm, as well as around 7.3 ppm. Current literature describes most common classes of secondary metabolites in red and green algae as phytosterols, phenylpropanoids and various phenolic compounds [105, 106]. Since the ¹H NMR spectra also showed prominent peaks in the aromatic regains as well as in the region associated with alcohol groups, presence of phenols or phytosterols is possible.

Further, the metabolomic plasma profile of hypercholesterolemic hamsters treated with PAZ and fraction 4 was analyzed, using ¹H NMR spectroscopy and multivariate data analysis. Previous studies identified metabolic perturbations associated with abnormal lipoprotein profile, kidney disease associated with type I diabetics, insulin resistance, and atherosclerosis using NMR spectroscopy, this being a method widely used in the last decade [83, 88].



Plasma includes both high molecular weight proteins and lipoproteins, as well as low molecular weight metabolites. Hence, the standard plasma 1-dimentional ¹H NMR spectrum is dominated by broad resonance peaks of the high molecular weight components. The CPMG echo pulse technique was used to suppress the resonance from the macromolecules and emphasize the low molecular weight metabolites, thus revealing subtle biochemical information of the plasma samples. A clear separation of the groups was obtained with the PCA and PLS-DA score plots, showing changes in plasma profiles due to the PAZ intervention treatment. To identify the metabolites responsible for this strong separation of the groups, PCA loading plot was analyzed to identify the unique regions in the spectra that generate this separation. In addition, Chenomx NMR Suite software along with the loading, VIP and S plot assisted in identification and qualification of the low molecular weight metabolites present.

It is now well established that a high fat diet is highly correlated with an atherogenic outcome. Independent from the effect of a high fat diet on lipid profile, a number of recent metabolomic studies have identified abnormalities in branched chain amino acids [107], choline, betaine, and TMAO metabolism [108-110] as being highly increased in subjects with stable atherosclerosis, heart failure, and other cardiovascular diseases. After screening more than 2000 metabolites from a large cohort study (n= 1,876), Wang *et al* [110] found that a unique cluster of three phospholipid-associated molecules, more specifically choline, betaine, and the final metabolite, TMAO are linked to CVD risk. It has been shown by Wang *et al* [110] that increased levels of these metabolites promoted up-regulation of several macrophage scavenger receptors that correlated with atherosclerosis, making these



phospholipid metabolites independent predictors for the risk of a clinical vascular event. Even though the key culprits in atherosclerosis remain cholesterol and triglycerides, the new findings had shifted the attention of scientists towards phosphatidylcholine biosynthesis pathway for additional information related to risk for CVD. Plasma levels of choline and betaine are dependent on the proatherosclerotic phospholipid-rich diet, and are considered a key risk factor, rather than a direct marker of CVD [111]. After quantification of these metabolites in our plasma samples, we determined that the group that received the high fat diet and the PAZ and/or fractions 4 had significantly lower levels of betaine, choline, phosphocholine, glycerol-phosphocholine, as compared with the animals that received the high fat diet and water. In addition, the group that received fraction 4 had a significantly lower concentration of TMAO, demonstrating that the biologically active fraction provides enhanced benefits to the hypercholesterolemic animals. TMAO was demonstrated to promote accelerated atherosclerosis and has been proposed that TMAO induces up-regulation of macrophage scavenger receptors and can contribute to augment the "forward cholesterol transport" [112].

Another recently studied metabolite that contains a trimethylamine structure similar to that of choline is L- carnitine. Its fundamental role is to transport fatty acids into the mitochondrial compartment [112], and it has been associated with potential health risk related to CVD [113]. It has been shown that TMAO, and its precursors choline and carnitine suppress *in vivo* reverse cholesterol transport, and elevated levels of plasma carnitine in humans are significantly associated with risk for coronary artery disease, peripheral artery disease, and overall CVD [114]. Our



metabolomics analysis showed a significantly lower plasma concentration of carnitine in the group that received fraction 4 as compared with the group that received a high fat diet and water. This finding is of extreme importance, as it appends to the increase in plasma HDL cholesterol, along with the decrease in non-HDL and TC/HDL ratio, all considered contributory factors towards prevention of heart disease.

Furthermore, Aim 3 was designed to examine the therapeutic effect of fraction 4 in a diet-induced hypercholesterolemic hamster model. More specifically, the objective of this study was to determine the efficacy of fraction 4 on plasma lipid and metabolomic profile of animals that have been previously induced to a hypercholesterolemic state. Also, the aim was to determine the earliest time point at which the plasma profile was modified after treatment with fraction 4. Also, this is the first study examining the plasma metabolomic profile of hypercholesterolemic hamsters treated with fraction 4; therefore it is very important to determine the changes in the concentration of small molecular weight metabolites due to fraction 4 therapeutics and how they correlate with the results from the preventative study.

The results of this therapeutic investigation reveal an improvement in the plasma lipoprotein profile upon administration of fraction 4, showing a significant reduction in non-HDL cholesterol and total cholesterol/HDL ratio in all treatment groups, as well as a significant increase in plasma HDL cholesterol concentration. In addition, there was a moderate (T7, T10, and T14 groups) and a highly significant increase (T21 group) in the hepatic mRNA levels of Apo A1 gene, which is involved in the production of nascent HDL particles. Further, we analyzed the metabolic plasma



profile of hypercholesterolemic hamsters treated with the biologically active fraction of PAZ, using ¹H NMR spectroscopy and multivariate data analysis. A clear separation of the groups was obtained with the PCA and PLS-DA score plots, showing changes in blood plasma profiles due to therapy with fraction 4. To identify the metabolites responsible for this strong separation of the groups, PCA loading plot was analyzed to identify the unique regions in the spectra that generate this separation. Chenomx NMR Suite software along with the PCA loading, VIP and S plots assisted in identification and qualification of important low molecular weight metabolites. After quantification of these metabolites in our plasma samples, it was noticed that the group that received the high fat diet and fraction 4 for 21 days had significantly lower levels of betaine, choline, phosphocholine, and glycerolphosphocholine, as compared with the animals that received the high fat diet and water. Furthermore, our metabolomics approach showed a significant lower plasma concentration of carnitine in the group that received BAF for 21 days as compared with the group that received a high fat diet and water.

The concentration of these metabolites was also altered when PAZ and fraction 4 were administrated as a preventative agent in hypercholesterolemic hamsters, therefore we can suggest that the phosphocholine-containing molecules and their pathways are being altered by administration of PAZ and/or BAF. Figure 4.1 presents an overview of these pathways and the relationship between these molecules and lipid metabolism.

Several researchers investigated the phosphocholine-containing molecules and TMAO production and revealed that these molecules are gut-flora-dependent and



several pathogens are responsible for the production of TMAO [110, 114, 115]. Previous studies have also shown that the intestinal microbial community can influence the efficacy of utilizing energy from the diet, and ultimately increase the susceptibility to obesity [116]. More metabolomics studies have demonstrated the active role of gut microbiota with the development of complex metabolic aberrations, such as insulin resistance and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease [117].

Using a targeted metabolomics approach, Wang *at el* [110] and Koeth *at el* [114] identified a novel pathway connecting dietary lipid intake, intestinal microflora and atherosclerosis (Figure 4.2). This pathway represents a distinctive additional contribution to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, demonstrating that gut mirobiota engages in the metabolism of phospholipids to yield a molecule (trimethylamine), which is further metabolized to TMAO in the host and ultimately contribute to formation of atherosclerosis. Thus, the current findings are of extreme importance, demonstrating that PAZ and its BAF can alter not only the concentration of important phosphocholine-containing molecules, but may also change the gut microbiota leading to altered production of TMAO.





Figure 4.1 Diagram of the Glycerolphosphate Pathway and Phosphatidylcholine Synthesis [118]



120



Figure 4.2 Gut-flora Dependent Metabolism of Phosphocholine and Atherosclerosis.



CONCLUSION

The present study has shown that dietary administration of PAZ and/or its biologically active fraction can improve the plasma lipoprotein profile, hepatic mRNA expression of genes involved in HDL/ RCT mechanism, as well as the concentration of low molecular weight metabolites in plasma. These modifications were achieved when fraction 4 of PAZ was administrated both as a preventative and as a therapeutic suggesting potential this agent, the benefit of agent in hypercholesterolemia.

The data suggest that administration of PAZ and the biologically active fraction results in a favorable lipoprotein profile in hamsters, primarily due to the effects on multiple targets in the reverse cholesterol transport pathway. In addition to improving the well known risk factors associated with CVD, the potentially valuable effect of the algal infusion on relatively new predictors of atherosclerosis, such as branched chain amino acids and the phosphocholine- containing molecules was identified.

It was also shown that the biologically active fraction can alter the pathway linking the phospholipids, intestinal microflora and atherosclerosis. The proatherogenic gut-flora-generated metabolite TMAO was significantly reduced when fraction 4 was administrated along with high fat diet as a preventative agent to hypercholesterolemic hamsters.

This study therefore further supports the dietary use of PAZ and/or its biologically active fraction for the prevention and management of dyslipidemia-related diseases such as cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome. Also, this research illustrates how the metabolomics approach can drive biomarker discovery and



generate new hypothesis for new treatments, opening exciting avenues for future research.



REFERENCES

- Lin Y, Mousa SS, Elshourbagy N, Mousa SA: Current status and future directions in lipid management: emphasizing low-density lipoproteins, high-density lipoproteins, and triglycerides as targets for therapy. Vasc Health Risk Manag 2010, 6:73-85.
- 2. Kim OY, Lee JH, Sweeney G: Metabolomic profiling as a useful tool for diagnosis and treatment of chronic disease: focus on obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular diseases. *Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther* 2013, **11**:61-68.
- 3. Durrington P: **Dyslipidaemia.** *Lancet* 2003, **362:**717-731.
- 4. Heidenreich PA, Trogdon JG, Khavjou OA, Butler J, Dracup K, Ezekowitz MD, Finkelstein EA, Hong Y, Johnston SC, Khera A, et al: Forecasting the Future of Cardiovascular Disease in the United States: A Policy Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2011.
- 5. Ikonen E: Cellular cholesterol trafficking and compartmentalization. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2008, 9:125-138.
- Hanukoglu I: Steroidogenic enzymes: structure, function, and role in regulation of steroid hormone biosynthesis. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1992, 43:779-804.
- Hata M, Ito T, Ohwada K: Kinetic analysis of apolipoproteins in postprandial hypertriglyceridaemia rabbits. *Lab Anim* 2009, 43:174-181.
- AT Remaley GW: HDL-C The changing testing paradigm. *Clinical Laboratory News* 2007, 33.
- Nofer JR, Kehrel B, Fobker M, Levkau B, Assmann G, von Eckardstein A: HDL and arteriosclerosis: beyond reverse cholesterol transport. *Atherosclerosis* 2002, 161:1-16.



- 10. de Grooth GJ, Kuivenhoven JA, Stalenhoef AF, de Graaf J, Zwinderman AH, Posma JL, van Tol A, Kastelein JJ: Efficacy and safety of a novel cholesteryl ester transfer protein inhibitor, JTT-705, in humans: a randomized phase II dose-response study. *Circulation* 2002, 105:2159-2165.
- 11. Patel S, Puranik R, Nakhla S, Lundman P, Stocker R, Wang XS, Lambert G, Rye KA, Barter PJ, Nicholls SJ, Celermajer DS: Acute hypertriglyceridaemia in humans increases the triglyceride content and decreases the anti-inflammatory capacity of high density lipoproteins. *Atherosclerosis* 2009, **204**:424-428.
- Keys A: Coronary heart disease in seven countries. 1970. Nutrition 1997, 13:250-252;
 discussion 249, 253.
- Wilson PW, Garrison RJ, Castelli WP, Feinleib M, McNamara PM, Kannel WB: Prevalence of coronary heart disease in the Framingham Offspring Study: role of lipoprotein cholesterols. Am J Cardiol 1980, 46:649-654.
- 14. Robertson TL, Kato H, Rhoads GG, Kagan A, Marmot M, Syme SL, Gordon T, Worth RM, Belsky JL, Dock DS, et al: Epidemiologic studies of coronary heart disease and stroke in Japanese men living in Japan, Hawaii and California. Incidence of myocardial infarction and death from coronary heart disease. Am J Cardiol 1977, 39:239-243.
- Dayton S, Pearce ML, Goldman H, Harnish A, Plotkin D, Shickman M, Winfield M,
 Zager A, Dixon W: Controlled trial of a diet high in unsaturated fat for prevention of atherosclerotic complications. *Lancet* 1968, 2:1060-1062.



- 16. Miettinen M, Turpeinen O, Karvonen MJ, Elosuo R, Paavilainen E: Effect of cholesterol-lowering diet on mortality from coronary heart-disease and other causes. A twelve-year clinical trial in men and women. *Lancet* 1972, **2**:835-838.
- Getz GS, Reardon CA: Nutrition and cardiovascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007, 27:2499-2506.
- Price PT, Nelson CM, Clarke SD: Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of gene expression. *Curr Opin Lipidol* 2000, 11:3-7.
- Sessler AM, Ntambi JM: Polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of gene expression. J Nutr 1998, 128:923-926.
- 20. Jump DB, Clarke SD: Regulation of gene expression by dietary fat. *Annu Rev Nutr* 1999, **19:**63-90.
- 21. Reardon CA, Blachowicz L, Gupta G, Lukens J, Nissenbaum M, Getz GS: Site-specific influence of polyunsaturated fatty acids on atherosclerosis in immune incompetent LDL receptor deficient mice. *Atherosclerosis* 2006, 187:325-331.
- 22. Connor WE, Cerqueira MT, Connor RW, Wallace RB, Malinow MR, Casdorph HR: The plasma lipids, lipoproteins, and diet of the Tarahumara indians of Mexico. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1978, **31**:1131-1142.
- 23. McMurry MP, Connor WE, Lin DS, Cerqueira MT, Connor SL: The absorption of cholesterol and the sterol balance in the Tarahumara Indians of Mexico fed cholesterol-free and high cholesterol diets. *Am J Clin Nutr* 1985, **41**:1289-1298.
- Boden G: Obesity, insulin resistance and free fatty acids. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 2011, 18:139-143.



- Zalesin KC, Franklin BA, Miller WM, Peterson ED, McCullough PA: Impact of obesity on cardiovascular disease. *Med Clin North Am* 2011, 95:919-937.
- McGill HC, Jr., McMahan CA, Herderick EE, Zieske AW, Malcom GT, Tracy RE, Strong JP, Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth Research G: Obesity accelerates the progression of coronary atherosclerosis in young men. *Circulation* 2002, 105:2712-2718.
- 27. McMahan CA, McGill HC, Gidding SS, Malcom GT, Newman WP, Tracy RE, Strong JP, Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth Research G: PDAY risk score predicts advanced coronary artery atherosclerosis in middle-aged persons as well as youth. *Atherosclerosis* 2007, 190:370-377.
- Fantuzzi G, Mazzone T: Adipose tissue and atherosclerosis: exploring the connection. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2007, 27:996-1003.
- 29. Poirier P, Giles TD, Bray GA, Hong Y, Stern JS, Pi-Sunyer FX, Eckel RH, American Heart A, Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition PA, Metabolism: Obesity and cardiovascular disease: pathophysiology, evaluation, and effect of weight loss: an update of the 1997 American Heart Association Scientific Statement on Obesity and Heart Disease from the Obesity Committee of the Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. *Circulation* 2006, 113:898-918.
- Lawes CM, Vander Hoorn S, Rodgers A, International Society of H: Global burden of blood-pressure-related disease, 2001. *Lancet* 2008, 371:1513-1518.
- 31. Meneton P, Jeunemaitre X, de Wardener HE, MacGregor GA: Links between dietary salt intake, renal salt handling, blood pressure, and cardiovascular diseases. *Physiol Rev* 2005, **85**:679-715.



- 32. Sacks FM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D, Obarzanek E, Conlin PR, Miller ER, 3rd, Simons-Morton DG, et al: Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med 2001, 344:3-10.
- Grundy SM: Hypertriglyceridemia, atherogenic dyslipidemia, and the metabolic syndrome. Am J Cardiol 1998, 81:18B-25B.
- Castelli WP, Anderson K, Wilson PW, Levy D: Lipids and risk of coronary heart disease. The Framingham Study. Ann Epidemiol 1992, 2:23-28.
- 35. Phan BA, Toth PP: Is the future of statins aligned with new novel lipid modulation therapies? *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 2013, **15**:300.
- 36. Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, Kirby A, Sourjina T, Peto R, Collins R, et al: Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet* 2005, 366:1267-1278.
- Hausenloy DJ, Yellon DM: Targeting residual cardiovascular risk: raising highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol levels. *Heart* 2008, 94:706-714.
- 38. Assmann G: Pro and con: high-density lipoprotein, triglycerides, and other lipid subfractions are the future of lipid management. *Am J Cardiol* 2001, **87**:2B-7B.
- Kleemann R, Kooistra T: HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors: effects on chronic subacute inflammation and onset of atherosclerosis induced by dietary cholesterol. *Curr Drug Targets Cardiovasc Haematol Disord* 2005, 5:441-453.
- 40. Toutouzas K, Drakopoulou M, Skoumas I, Stefanadis C: Advancing therapy for hypercholesterolemia. *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2010, **11**:1659-1672.



- Insull W, Jr., Toth P, Mullican W, Hunninghake D, Burke S, Donovan JM, Davidson MH: Effectiveness of colesevelam hydrochloride in decreasing LDL cholesterol in patients with primary hypercholesterolemia: a 24-week randomized controlled trial. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2001, 76:971-982.
- Kosoglou T, Statkevich P, Johnson-Levonas AO, Paolini JF, Bergman AJ, Alton KB:
 Ezetimibe: a review of its metabolism, pharmacokinetics and drug interactions. *Clin Pharmacokinet* 2005, 44:467-494.
- 43. Tenenbaum A, Fisman EZ, Motro M, Adler Y: Optimal management of combined dyslipidemia: what have we behind statins monotherapy? *Adv Cardiol* 2008, 45:127-153.
- Kelly JJ, Lawson JA, Campbell LV, Storlien LH, Jenkins AB, Whitworth JA, O'Sullivan
 AJ: Effects of nicotinic acid on insulin sensitivity and blood pressure in healthy
 subjects. J Hum Hypertens 2000, 14:567-572.
- 45. Poynten AM, Gan SK, Kriketos AD, O'Sullivan A, Kelly JJ, Ellis BA, Chisholm DJ, Campbell LV: Nicotinic acid-induced insulin resistance is related to increased circulating fatty acids and fat oxidation but not muscle lipid content. *Metabolism* 2003, **52**:699-704.
- 46. Nissen SE, Tsunoda T, Tuzcu EM, Schoenhagen P, Cooper CJ, Yasin M, Eaton GM, Lauer MA, Sheldon WS, Grines CL, et al: Effect of recombinant ApoA-I Milano on coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2003, 290:2292-2300.



- 47. Navab M, Anantharamaiah GM, Reddy ST, Fogelman AM: Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides and their role in atherosclerosis prevention. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med* 2006, **3**:540-547.
- 48. Navab M, Anantharamaiah GM, Reddy ST, Hama S, Hough G, Grijalva VR, Wagner AC, Frank JS, Datta G, Garber D, Fogelman AM: Oral D-4F causes formation of prebeta high-density lipoprotein and improves high-density lipoprotein-mediated cholesterol efflux and reverse cholesterol transport from macrophages in apolipoprotein E-null mice. *Circulation* 2004, 109:3215-3220.
- 49. Navab M, Anantharamaiah GM, Hama S, Garber DW, Chaddha M, Hough G, Lallone R, Fogelman AM: Oral administration of an Apo A-I mimetic Peptide synthesized from D-amino acids dramatically reduces atherosclerosis in mice independent of plasma cholesterol. *Circulation* 2002, 105:290-292.
- 50. Garber DW, Datta G, Chaddha M, Palgunachari MN, Hama SY, Navab M, Fogelman AM, Segrest JP, Anantharamaiah GM: A new synthetic class A amphipathic peptide analogue protects mice from diet-induced atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res 2001, 42:545-552.
- Ford ES, Li C, Pearson WS, Zhao G, Mokdad AH: Trends in hypercholesterolemia, treatment and control among United States adults. *Int J Cardiol* 2010, 140:226-235.
- 52. Barter P. J. CL: Should HDL be a target of therapy ? 2009.
- 53. Hooper L, Thompson RL, Harrison RA, Summerbell CD, Ness AR, Moore HJ, Worthington HV, Durrington PN, Higgins JP, Capps NE, et al: Risks and benefits of omega 3 fats for mortality, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review. BMJ 2006, 332:752-760.



- 54. Yokoyama M, Origasa H, Matsuzaki M, Matsuzawa Y, Saito Y, Ishikawa Y, Oikawa S, Sasaki J, Hishida H, Itakura H, et al: Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on major coronary events in hypercholesterolaemic patients (JELIS): a randomised open-label, blinded endpoint analysis. *Lancet* 2007, 369:1090-1098.
- 55. Kim A, Chiu A, Barone MK, Avino D, Wang F, Coleman CI, Phung OJ: Green tea catechins decrease total and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Am Diet Assoc* 2011, **111**:1720-1729.
- AbuMweis SS, Jones PJ: Cholesterol-lowering effect of plant sterols. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 2008, 10:467-472.
- 57. Gunness P, Gidley MJ: Mechanisms underlying the cholesterol-lowering properties of soluble dietary fibre polysaccharides. *Food Funct* 2010, 1:149-155.
- 58. Tokede OA, Gaziano JM, Djousse L: Effects of cocoa products/dark chocolate on serum lipids: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 2011, 65:879-886.
- Agerbaek M, Gerdes LU, Richelsen B: Hypocholesterolaemic effect of a new fermented milk product in healthy middle-aged men. Eur J Clin Nutr 1995, 49:346-352.
- Bertolami MC, Faludi AA, Batlouni M: Evaluation of the effects of a new fermented milk product (Gaio) on primary hypercholesterolemia. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1999, 53:97-101.
- 61. Schaafsma G, Meuling WJ, van Dokkum W, Bouley C: Effects of a milk product, fermented by Lactobacillus acidophilus and with fructo-oligosaccharides added, on blood lipids in male volunteers. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 1998, **52**:436-440.


- 62. Guo Z, Liu XM, Zhang QX, Shen Z, Tian FW, Zhang H, Sun ZH, Zhang HP, Chen W: Influence of consumption of probiotics on the plasma lipid profile: a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* 2011, 21:844-850.
- 63. Jones ML, Martoni CJ, Parent M, Prakash S: Cholesterol-lowering efficacy of a microencapsulated bile salt hydrolase-active Lactobacillus reuteri NCIMB 30242 yoghurt formulation in hypercholesterolaemic adults. *Br J Nutr* 2012, 107:1505-1513.
- 64. De Smet I, De Boever P, Verstraete W: Cholesterol lowering in pigs through enhanced bacterial bile salt hydrolase activity. *Br J Nutr* 1998, **79:**185-194.
- Bocanegra A, Bastida S, Benedi J, Rodenas S, Sanchez-Muniz FJ: Characteristics and nutritional and cardiovascular-health properties of seaweeds. J Med Food 2009, 12:236-258.
- Jimenez-Escrib A S-MF: Dietary fibre from edible seaweeds: chemical structure physicochemical properties and effects on cholesterol metabolism. *Nutrition Research* 2000, 20:585-598.
- Bocanegra A, Bastida S, Benedi J, Nus M, Sanchez-Montero JM, Sanchez-Muniz FJ: Effect of seaweed and cholesterol-enriched diets on postprandial lipoproteinaemia in rats. *Br J Nutr* 2009, 102:1728-1739.
- 68. Oben J, Enonchong E, Kuate D, Mbanya D, Thomas TC, Hildreth DJ, Ingolia TD, Tempesta MS: The effects of ProAlgaZyme novel algae infusion on metabolic syndrome and markers of cardiovascular health. *Lipids Health Dis* 2007, 6:20.
- 69. Ramsey SA, Gold ES, Aderem A: A systems biology approach to understanding atherosclerosis. *EMBO Mol Med* 2010, 2:79-89.



- Flaine Trujillo MS R, Cindy Davis PhD and John Milner PhD: Nutrigenomics,
 Proteomics, Metabolomics, and the Practice of Dietetics Journal of the American Dietetic Association March 2006, 106:403-413
- 71. Ulrich-Merzenich G, Zeitler H, Jobst D, Panek D, Vetter H, Wagner H: Application of the "-Omic-" technologies in phytomedicine. *Phytomedicine* 2007, 14:70-82.
- 72. Fiehn O, Kloska S, Altmann T: Integrated studies on plant biology using multiparallel techniques. *Curr Opin Biotechnol* 2001, 12:82-86.
- Jansen JJ, Hoefsloot HC, Boelens HF, van der Greef J, Smilde AK: Analysis of longitudinal metabolomics data. *Bioinformatics* 2004, 20:2438-2446.
- Gibney MJ, Walsh M, Brennan L, Roche HM, German B, van Ommen B: Metabolomics in human nutrition: opportunities and challenges. *Am J Clin Nutr* 2005, 82:497-503.
- 75. German JB, Hammock BD, Watkins SM: Metabolomics: building on a century of biochemistry to guide human health. *Metabolomics* 2005, 1:3-9.
- 76. Wilson ID, Plumb R, Granger J, Major H, Williams R, Lenz EM: HPLC-MS-based methods for the study of metabonomics. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 2005, 817:67-76.
- 77. Toyo'oka T: Determination methods for biologically active compounds by ultraperformance liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry: application to the analyses of pharmaceuticals, foods, plants, environments, metabonomics, and metabolomics. J Chromatogr Sci 2008, 46:233-247.
- 78. Atherton HJ, Bailey NJ, Zhang W, Taylor J, Major H, Shockcor J, Clarke K, Griffin JL:
 A combined 1H-NMR spectroscopy- and mass spectrometry-based metabolomic



study of the PPAR-alpha null mutant mouse defines profound systemic changes in metabolism linked to the metabolic syndrome. *Physiol Genomics* 2006, **27**:178-186.

- Weiss RH, Kim K: Metabolomics in the study of kidney diseases. Nat Rev Nephrol 2012, 8:22-33.
- Spratlin JL, Serkova NJ, Eckhardt SG: Clinical applications of metabolomics in oncology: a review. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009, 15:431-440.
- Chang D, Weljie A, Newton J: Leveraging latent information in NMR spectra for robust predictive models. *Pac Symp Biocomput* 2007:115-126.
- Davis VW, Bathe OF, Schiller DE, Slupsky CM, Sawyer MB: Metabolomics and surgical oncology: Potential role for small molecule biomarkers. J Surg Oncol 2011, 103:451-459.
- 83. Kirwan GM, Fernandez DI, Niere JO, Adams MJ: General and hybrid correlation nuclear magnetic resonance analysis of phosphorus in Phytophthora palmivora. *Anal Biochem* 2012, **429:1**-7.
- 84. Brindle JT AH, Holmes E, Tranter G, Nicholson JK, Bethell HW, Clarke S, Schofield PM, McKilligin E, Mosedale DE, Grainger DJ.: Rapid and noninvasive diagnosis of the presence and severity of coronary heart disease using 1H-NMR-based metabonomics. Nat Med 2002, 8:1439-1444.
- 85. Kirschenlohr HL, Griffin JL, Clarke SC, Rhydwen R, Grace AA, Schofield PM, Brindle KM, Metcalfe JC: Proton NMR analysis of plasma is a weak predictor of coronary artery disease. *Nat Med* 2006, 12:705-710.



- 86. Wurtz P, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Makinen VP, Groop PH, Savolainen MJ, Juonala M, Viikari JS, Kahonen M, Lehtimaki T, et al: Characterization of systemic metabolic phenotypes associated with subclinical atherosclerosis. *Mol Biosyst* 2011, 7:385-393.
- Wurtz P, Makinen VP, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Tukiainen T, Kettunen J, Savolainen MJ, Tammelin T, Viikari JS, Ronnemaa T, et al: Metabolic signatures of insulin resistance in 7,098 young adults. *Diabetes* 2012, 61:1372-1380.
- 88. Makinen VP, Soininen P, Forsblom C, Parkkonen M, Ingman P, Kaski K, Groop PH, FinnDiane Study G, Ala-Korpela M: 1H NMR metabonomics approach to the disease continuum of diabetic complications and premature death. *Mol Syst Biol* 2008, 4:167.
- 89. Eriksson L, Andersson PL, Johansson E, Tysklind M: Megavariate analysis of environmental QSAR data. Part II--investigating very complex problem formulations using hierarchical, non-linear and batch-wise extensions of PCA and PLS. *Mol Divers* 2006, **10**:187-205.
- 90. Bartley GE, Yokoyama W, Young SA, Anderson WH, Hung SC, Albers DR, Langhorst ML, Kim H: Hypocholesterolemic effects of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose are mediated by altered gene expression in hepatic bile and cholesterol pathways of male hamsters. J Nutr 2010, 140:1255-1260.
- 91. Kim HJ, Jeon SM, Lee MK, Cho YY, Kwon EY, Lee JH, Choi MS: Comparison of hesperetin and its metabolites for cholesterol-lowering and antioxidative efficacy in hypercholesterolemic hamsters. J Med Food 2010, 13:808-814.
- 92. Briand F: The use of dyslipidemic hamsters to evaluate drug-induced alterations in reverse cholesterol transport. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs* 2010, **11**:289-297.



- 93. Chapman MJ, Goldstein S, Lagrange D, Laplaud PM: A density gradient ultracentrifugal procedure for the isolation of the major lipoprotein classes from human serum. J Lipid Res 1981, 22:339-358.
- 94. Edelstein C, Pfaffinger D, Scanu AM: Advantages and limitations of density gradient ultracentrifugation in the fractionation of human serum lipoproteins: role of salts and sucrose. *J Lipid Res* 1984, **25**:630-637.
- 95. Hajri T, Khosla P, Pronczuk A, Hayes KC: Myristic acid-rich fat raises plasma LDL by stimulating LDL production without affecting fractional clearance in gerbils fed a cholesterol-free diet. J Nutr 1998, 128:477-484.
- 96. Izem L, Morton RE: Molecular cloning of hamster lipid transfer inhibitor protein (apolipoprotein F) and regulation of its expression by hyperlipidemia. J Lipid Res 2009, 50:676-684.
- 97. Dorfman SE, Wang S, Vega-Lopez S, Jauhiainen M, Lichtenstein AH: Dietary fatty acids and cholesterol differentially modulate HDL cholesterol metabolism in Golden-Syrian hamsters. J Nutr 2005, 135:492-498.
- 98. Field FJ, Born E, Mathur SN: Stanol esters decrease plasma cholesterol independently of intestinal ABC sterol transporters and Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 protein gene expression. J Lipid Res 2004, 45:2252-2259.
- 99. Martin JC, Canlet C, Delplanque B, Agnani G, Lairon D, Gottardi G, Bencharif K, Gripois D, Thaminy A, Paris A: 1H NMR metabonomics can differentiate the early atherogenic effect of dairy products in hyperlipidemic hamsters. *Atherosclerosis* 2009, 206:127-133.



- 100. Geamanu A, Saadat N, Goja A, Wadehra M, Ji X, Gupta SV: ProAlgaZyme and its subfractions increase plasma HDL cholesterol via upregulation of ApoA1, ABCA1, and SBR1, and inhibition of CETP in hypercholesterolemic hamsters. Nutrition and Dietary Supplements 2012, 4:17-24.
- 101. Suckling KE, Benson GM, Bond B, Gee A, Glen A, Haynes C, Jackson B: Cholesterol lowering and bile acid excretion in the hamster with cholestyramine treatment. *Atherosclerosis* 1991, 89:183-190.
- 102. Weingand KW, Daggy BP: Effects of dietary cholesterol and fasting on hamster plasma lipoprotein lipids. *Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem* 1991, **29:**425-428.
- 103. Harding SV, Zhao HL, Marinangeli CP, Day AG, Dillon HF, Jain D, Jones PJ: Red algal cellular biomass lowers circulating cholesterol concentrations in Syrian golden hamsters consuming hypercholesterolaemic diets. Br J Nutr 2009, 102:842-847.
- 104. Ryan AS, Keske MA, Hoffman JP, Nelson EB: Clinical overview of algaldocosahexaenoic acid: effects on triglyceride levels and other cardiovascular risk factors. Am J Ther 2009, 16:183-192.
- Blunt JW, Copp BR, Keyzers RA, Munro MH, Prinsep MR: Marine natural products. Nat Prod Rep 2012, 29:144-222.
- 106. Sanghvi AM, Lo YM: Present and potential industrial applications of macro- and microalgae. Recent Pat Food Nutr Agric 2010, 2:187-194.
- 107. Jones RD, Repa JJ, Russell DW, Dietschy JM, Turley SD: Delineation of biochemical, molecular, and physiological changes accompanying bile acid pool size restoration in Cyp7a1(-/-) mice fed low levels of cholic acid. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 2012, 303:G263-274.



- 108. Kang SM, Park JC, Shin MJ, Lee H, Oh J, Ryu do H, Hwang GS, Chung JH: (1)H nuclear magnetic resonance based metabolic urinary profiling of patients with ischemic heart failure. *Clin Biochem* 2011, 44:293-299.
- Barter PJ, Brandrup-Wognsen G, Palmer MK, Nicholls SJ: Effect of statins on HDL-C: a complex process unrelated to changes in LDL-C: analysis of the VOYAGER Database. J Lipid Res 2010, 51:1546-1553.
- 110. Wang Z, Klipfell E, Bennett BJ, Koeth R, Levison BS, Dugar B, Feldstein AE, Britt EB,
 Fu X, Chung YM, et al: Gut flora metabolism of phosphatidylcholine promotes
 cardiovascular disease. *Nature* 2011, 472:57-63.
- 111. Heather LC, Wang X, West JA, Griffin JL: A practical guide to metabolomic profiling as a discovery tool for human heart disease. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* 2013, **55**:2-11.
- 112. Bremer J: Carnitine--metabolism and functions. *Physiol Rev* 1983, 63:1420-1480.
- 113. Rebouche CJ, Seim H: Carnitine metabolism and its regulation in microorganisms and mammals. *Annu Rev Nutr* 1998, **18**:39-61.
- 114. Koeth RA, Wang Z, Levison BS, Buffa JA, Org E, Sheehy BT, Britt EB, Fu X, Wu Y, Li
 L, et al: Intestinal microbiota metabolism of l-carnitine, a nutrient in red meat,
 promotes atherosclerosis. *Nat Med* 2013, 19:576-585.
- 115. Loscalzo J: Lipid metabolism by gut microbes and atherosclerosis. *Circ Res* 2011, 109:127-129.
- 116. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, Magrini V, Mardis ER, Gordon JI: An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature* 2006, 444:1027-1031.



- 117. Dumas ME, Barton RH, Toye A, Cloarec O, Blancher C, Rothwell A, Fearnside J, Tatoud R, Blanc V, Lindon JC, et al: Metabolic profiling reveals a contribution of gut microbiota to fatty liver phenotype in insulin-resistant mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006, 103:12511-12516.
- Seibel BA, Walsh PJ: Trimethylamine oxide accumulation in marine animals:
 relationship to acylglycerol storage. *J Exp Biol* 2002, 205:297-306.



ABSTRACT

THE EFFECT OF PROALGAZYME AND ITS SUBFRACTIONS ON LIPID METABOLISM IN DIET INDUCED HYPERCHOLESTEROLEMIC HAMSTRES: CORREALTION WITH PLASMA METABOLOMIC PROFILE

by

ANDREEA GEAMANU

December 2013

Advisor: Dr. Smiti Gupta

Major: Nutrition and Food Science

Degree: Doctor of Philosophy

Background: Plasma HDL cholesterol levels are inversely related to cardiovascular disease, which is the leading cause of death worldwide. This study investigated the preventative effect of an algae infusion, ProAlgaZyme (PAZ) and its subfractions (F1, F2, F3, F4) on plasma HDL in a hamster model. Further, the study aimed to identify the biologically active fraction of PAZ and to determine the therapeutic efficacy of the fraction in diet induced hypercholesterolemic hamsters over time. Also, the current study investigated the changes in plasma metabolomic profile produced due to the interventions, and correlated the results with the lipoprotein profile of the hamsters.

Methods: Eighty male golden Syrian hamsters (8 weeks old) were randomized into controls (CW and CP) or high fat diet (HW, HP, HF1, HF2, HF3, and HF4). During the preventative intervention, an infusion of either 5% (HF1, HF2, HF3) or 20% (HP, HF4) concentration (v/v) was administered via the drinking water for 4 weeks, while the hamsters were being fed a high-fat diet (30% of calories from fat). Plasma lipids were



assayed and liver samples subjected to reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) to determine the relative transcription levels of genes involved in HDL/reverse cholesterol transport metabolism, ie, ApoA1, ABCA1, CETP, and SRB1. Lipid profile was correlated with plasma metabolomic profile using 1D ¹H NMR spectroscopy and the biologically active fraction has been identified.

Further, the study aimed to determine the therapeutic effect of the active fraction of PAZ. For this, 40 male Golden Syrian hamsters were fed a high fat diet for 4 weeks prior to randomization into 5 groups, based on the number of days they received the treatment. Thus animals in T3, T7, T10, T14, and T21 groups received the active fraction for 3, 7, 10, 14, and 21 days, respectively, as their drinking fluid. HW group from previous study was considered as control (T0, high fat diet and the active fraction for 0 days) for this study. Plasma lipid profile was assayed enzymatically, while RT-PCR provided the alternative transcription levels of Apolipoprotein (Apo) A1 gene. Plasma metabolomic profile was determined using ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy and results correlated with the lipid profile of the hamsters.

Results: Non-HDL cholesterol was significantly reduced in the HP (P < 0.05), HF3 and HF4 (P < 0.001) groups as compared with the HW group, while HDL cholesterol showed a significant increase in the HP, HF3, and HF4 groups (P < 0.001). Moreover, the total cholesterol/HDL ratio was significantly improved in the HP, HF1, and HF2 (P < 0.05), and HF3 and HF4 (P < 0.001) groups. Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction showed a significant increase in hepatic ApoA1 (HP, HF4) and ABCA1 (HF3, HF4) expression, consistent with an increase in HDL production, biogenesis, and maturation. A two-fold increase in SRB1 expression indicates that HF4



further augments the reverse cholesterol transport mechanism. Reduction of CETP expression (HF4) is consistent with a decrease in the transfer of cholesteryl ester to LDL, further increasing the amount of cholesterol held as HDL particles. NMR metabolomics approach showed a significant decrease in the concentration of several small molecular weight molecules, including branched chain amino acids and phosphocholine-containing molecules, in groups HP and HF4, when compared with HW group. Since, F4 exhibited the most influence on plasma lipid and metabolomic profile, it was further tested for its therapeutic effect.

Plasma HDL was significantly increased in T3 (P < 0.05) and T21 (P < 0.001), while non-HDL cholesterol was significantly reduced in T3, T7, T10 (P < 0.001) and T14, T21 (P < 0.01). Moreover, the total cholesterol/HDL was significantly lower in all groups (P < 0.001) as compared with T0. Quantitative RT-PCR showed an increase in Apo A1 expression in T10 (3x) and T21 (6x) groups. NMR data followed by multivariate analysis showed a clear separation between T0 and T21 groups, indicating a difference in their metabolomic profiles. Plasma concentrations of choline, phosphocholine, glycerol-phosphocholine, betaine and carnitine metabolites were significantly lowered in T21 group. These metabolites are associated with a reduced risk for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease.

Conclusion: ProAlgaZyme and its subfractions significantly improved the plasma cholesterol profile by lowering non-HDL and increasing HDL, possibly via the reverse cholesterol transport mechanism. Also, the concentration of several proatherogenic small molecular weight metabolites has been decreased, indicating that PAZ and F4 can be used as a preventative agent for hypercholesterolemia and



atherosclerosis. Moreover, treatment with F4 also significantly improved plasma lipid profile by increasing HDL and lowering non-HDL cholesterol, and reducing key risk factor metabolites for atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease.



AUTOBIOGRAPHICAL STATEMENT

Andreea Geamanu is a PhD Candidate in the Nutrition and Food Science (NFS) Department, Wayne State University (WSU), Detroit, MI. She is expected to graduate in October 2013 with a doctor of philosophy degree in NFS and a minor in Evaluation and Research Statistics. Ms. Geamanu graduated from Wayne State University with an MS (2008) and Honors BS (2007) in NFS. Prior to her studies in the US, she was a medical student at Carol Davila School of Medicine, in Bucharest, Romania. During her graduate studies at WSU, Ms. Geamanu conducted research and training under the supervision of Dr. Smiti Gupta. She was involved in several projects investigating the synergistic effect of different nutraceuticals in the prevention and treatment of lung and pancreatic cancer.

For her doctoral dissertation, Ms. Geamanu evaluated the effect of an algal infusion on lipid metabolism. In addition, she utilized the metabolomics approach to observe the alterations in plasma NMR spectra from а diet-induced hypercholesterolemic animal model. Metabolomics approach was also used to evaluate biomarkers for early diagnosis of lung and pancreatic cancer. The change in metabolomic pattern or the biomarker profile enables targeting of specific metabolic pathways affected by the disease condition, leading to mechanistic insight. Ms. Geamanu's future research interests include diet, lipid metabolism, obesity, and cancer prevention and risk factors.



144